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TOP 5 ENR
U.S. Specialty Electrical 
Contractors for 25+ years 
in a row with Engineering 
News- Record (ENR)

ANNUAL 
REVENUE
2021 – $2.50B
2020 – $2.25B
2019 – $2.07B

1891 ROOTS
130+ years of building 
& maintaining critical 
electrical infrastructure

7,600+
Employees throughout 
U.S. & Canada

TOP-TIER 
GOVERNANCE
Received a 1 (highest rating) by 
Institutional Shareholder Services 
(ISS) for our Governance practices  
*As of January 2022

63 OFFICES
Locations throughout 
U.S. & Canada 

Delivering impactful, large-scale electrical construction services 
throughout the United States and Canada.

An industry leader for more than 130 years, MYR Group has helped shape our nation’s 
infrastructure by delivering some of the largest and most complex electrical transmission, 
commercial and industrial, and renewable energy projects in the U.S. and Canada. Our specialized 
expertise, skilled workforce, and innovative practices translate to successful project delivery for 
our clients. Through these efforts we’re supporting the clean energy transformation. 

MYR GROUP CONSISTS OF THE FOLLOWING SUBSIDIARIES:

CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc.

E.S. Boulos Company

Great Southwestern Construction, Inc.

Harlan Electric Company

High Country Line Construction, Inc.

Huen Electric, Inc.

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

The L.E. Myers Co.

MYR Energy Services, Inc.

Powerline Plus Ltd. (acquired January 2022)

Sturgeon Electric Company, Inc.

Sturgeon Electric California, LLC

Western Pacific Enterprises Ltd.

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

STRONG SAFETY 
PERFORMANCE
2021 TCIR – 1.24
2021 LTIR – 0.09

*All statistics as of December 31, 2021 unless otherwise noted.



Dear Stockholders,

FEBRUARY 23, 2022

Our accomplishments this year reflect both our organizational 
and operational strength, coupled with our employees’ 
dedication and backed by a culture built on time-tested values 
that have guided us for over a century. Our ability to deliver 
high-value solutions, execute long and near-term strategies, and 
further elevate our position in the electrical construction industry 
is reflected in our record revenues, profit, earnings per share, 
net income, and EBITDA in 2021. 

MYR Group’s strong market position, continued investment 
in energy and infrastructure projects, and focus on employee 
development and training resulted in excellent financial returns. 
Corporate agility, positive growth forecasts in the markets we 
serve, and a solid pipeline of project opportunities position MYR 
Group for ongoing success.

Delivering Innovative Solutions in a Dynamic Energy Landscape
2021 was defined by a steady bidding environment for projects 
of all sizes in our Transmission & Distribution (T&D) and 
Commercial & Industrial (C&I) segments. In 2022, we expect 
to see additional investments in electrical infrastructure and 
renewable energy, which we believe will foster numerous 
opportunities and long-term growth for our business.

In our T&D segment, aging infrastructure, decarbonization 
goals and legislative funding are spurring investments leading 
to increased project opportunities including system hardening 

NOTEWORTHY 
HIGHLIGHTS

RECORD REVENUE
We achieved $2.50B in 2021 revenue, a year over 
year increase of 11% driven by organic growth.

OPERATING SUSTAINABLY
We are committed to positively impacting the 
world around us. We are focused on reducing the 
environmental impact of our operations, serving as 
a strong partner for our clients in the clean energy 
transformation, and cultivating greater diversity, 
equity and inclusion in our workforce.

EXCELLENT SAFETY PERFORMANCE
Constant innovation and improvement of our safety 
practices enhances our ability to attain solid safety 
statistics year after year.

PROVEN AGILITY & LONGEVITY
Delivering continuous value for our clients in an 
evolving industry, economic and energy landscape.

STRATEGIC ACQUISITION
Growing our business with the acquisition of 
Toronto-based Powerline Plus, completed on 
January 4, 2022, strengthens our market position 
and expands our geographic reach in Canada.

FORTIFIED FOOTING IN THE CLEAN ENERGY MARKET
The financial and operational strength of our company 
supports our growth in this space as we provide 
renewable infrastructure including utility-scale solar 
projects and electric vehicle (EV) charging stations.



and renewable energy work. 
We continue to actively bid and 
execute transmission, distribution, 
substation, utility-scale solar 
and energy storage projects of 
varied size, location, and capacity, 
while further refining our project 
delivery expertise. 

In our C&I segment, we see resiliency in construction activity 
in the markets we serve. This is demonstrated by new 
opportunities in a wide breadth of facility types which include 
renewables, healthcare, high-tech manufacturing, data centers, 
transportation, and water/wastewater treatment plants. We 
expect improved construction spend with the upturn in the 
economy, pent-up demand and future legislative spend to 
elevate opportunities.

We remain steadfast in our commitment to providing strong 
customer service and further strengthening the many long-
standing relationships and multi-year service agreements we 
hold. This is woven through our network of subsidiaries that 
operate in a collaborative environment which bolsters our ability 
to provide integrated, turnkey offerings. The sharing of best 
practices and key learnings lead to streamlined operations that 
strengthen our organization, and result in safe and successful 
project execution, all culminating in value for our clients. 

Through recent and steady investments, we are expanding our 
operations through the consistent application of our organic 
and acquisition growth strategies and enhancing stockholder 
value. Our purchase of the Powerline Plus Companies, 
headquarted in Toronto, on January 4, 2022 extends our 
presence into Ontario, Canada, and enhances our ability to 
capture projects in a new geography. The transition to a cleaner 
and more reliable energy future continues to drive strong 
investments in infrastructure, technology, and efficiency across 
the industry. We believe these drivers will provide ample 
growth opportunities for MYR Group. 

What We Do and How We Do It Matter
We take our position in the clean energy future very seriously. 
MYR Group remains instrumental in providing our clients with 
solar, energy storage, electric vehicle (EV) charging stations, and 
critical electrical infrastructure associated with renewable energy.

We recognize the unparalleled relationship between our 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) responsibilities 
and our ability to deliver long-term value to both our customers 
and our stockholders. At MYR Group, we seek to continually 
demonstrate that our commitment to fulfilling these 
responsibilities is a core component of our values, day-to-day 
business operations, and vision going forward. Reducing our 

environmental impact, protecting 
the safety and wellbeing of 
our people, and supporting the 
communities where we live and 
operate remain a top priority in 
all facets of our organization. 

Ultimately, our ability to achieve 
our goals is dependent on 
the skills and expertise of our 
talented teams. This starts with 
our Board of Directors, where 

we have a diverse and highly experienced group of leaders. 
We believe diversity of all our teams is a critical component 
of overall success. Coupled with strong leadership is the 
development of the next generation of leaders, which means 
investing in our people to foster top tier performers in all areas 
of our business. We are proud of our investments in training 
and development programs for employees at all levels of 
the company. The unique backgrounds and talented skills of 
our leaders and project teams combine to create meaningful 
strategic decisions that maximize our long-term sustainability. 

A Valued Partner Now and in the Future
We face healthy competition in both of our market segments, 
and respond by remaining disciplined in our bidding, carefully 
managing risks, staying focused on the superior execution of our 
projects, and providing our clients with outstanding value. MYR 
Group is a strong business which has performed successfully 
through the years and remains at the forefront of our industry. 

Heading into this new year, we are encouraged by the numerous 
opportunities the market holds, continued resiliency in our 
business and a growing renewable energy landscape. Our legacy 
of long-term alliances and strong relationships solidify MYR 
Group as a trusted partner for our clients.

Our strong track record of successful performance comes from 
remembering that our job is to perform both for today and the 
future. We’ll stay true to our core values as we move forward, 
making sound investments to grow our business, working 
to keep our hardworking and dedicated employees safe, and 
delivering outstanding value for our clients, stockholders, 
and communities. We celebrate our collective 2021 
accomplishments and look forward to the year ahead.   

Best regards,

Kenneth M. Hartwick
Chair of the Board

Richard S. Swartz  
President and 
Chief Executive Officer

MYR Group is uniquely 
positioned to offer our clients 
comprehensive solutions for 
a broad range of complex 
projects, which only a large 
and sophisticated contractor 
can provide.

More than seventy percent 
of the executive leaders 
from our top T&D customers 
indicated in MYR Group’s 
Annual Strategic Insights 
survey that renewable 
energy will have the greatest 
impact on the strategic 
direction of their business 
over the next few years.



Tremendous investment in electrical infrastructure is needed to meet the 
needs of the evolving energy landscape. As the clean energy sector expands, 
the efforts to accelerate this transformation provide solid growth drivers 
for our business. MYR Group remains well positioned to deliver this critical 
infrastructure, serving as a long-term partner for our clients as they strive to 
achieve robust clean energy goals. We are constructing the projects that are 
essential to building a resilient and sustainable power grid. This work includes a 
focus on renewables, grid modernization, system hardening, electrification and 
smart technology initiatives as the world moves toward a carbon-neutral future. 

MAINE DISTRIBUTED 
GENERATION PORTFOLIO
Consisting of four projects with a 
combined capacity of 26 MWdc  
(17.3 MWac), this portfolio of projects 
is interconnected to the Central Maine 
Power system and will generate 
enough renewable energy to power the 
equivalent of approximately 5,200 homes 
annually. We are delivering the project 
on an engineer-procure-construct (EPC) 
basis utilizing owner provided First Solar 
Series 6 panels.  

ELECTRICAL VEHICLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROGRAM 
Through a collaborative program 
with Xcel Energy we are installing 
primary and secondary power for EV 
chargers at approximately 80 sites 
across Colorado. Providing turnkey 
solutions, we deliver all aspects of the 
project from design, installation of high 
voltage infrastructure, and secondary 
metered service for functional system 
maintenance. We are installing 
chargers for both private and public 
clients, at various locations including 
public schools with plans for future 
conversion to electric school buses, 
multi-family units, and car dealerships.

BLUEPRINT 
FOR GROWTH



A LEGACY 
OF TRUST
Our ability to collaborate is second to none. We 
leverage our knowledge networks throughout the 
organization and funnel that expertise and value 
directly to our clients. Successful execution stems 
from the integration of our teams, a system of 
streamlined processes, and the motivation of 
our employees. We attribute our success to the 
strong management teams leading our skilled and 
experienced workforce who harness our extensive 
tooling and fleet resources to ensure our footing as 
a trusted partner.

Through numerous, established long-term alliances 
and client partnerships, we have delivered some of 
the largest and most complex electrical construction 
projects in our industry. Our seasoned experts 
provide unwavering commitment to our clients 
resulting in the achievement of common goals 
and customized solutions. We are driven by the 
certain knowledge that our work matters, and we 
are positioned to build a sustainable and reliable 
foundation for tomorrow.

CENTRAL EAST ENERGY CONNECT
Valued at more than $250M, the project will consist of 

nearly 100 miles of 345-kilovolt transmission construction 
within the existing New York utility corridors. This project 

is expected to ultimately improve system reliability, 
increase efficiency by relieving bottlenecks in the New 

York state power grid, and facilitate statewide access 
to renewable energy. Construction is underway and 

expected to complete in 2023.

TRANS MOUNTAIN EXPANSION 
PROJECT (TMEP)

The TMEP is an engineer-procure-construct (EPC) joint 
venture project located from Burnaby, BC to Edmonton, 

AB in Canada. We provided electrical construction 
services for 14 substations, three transmission lines, 

and more than 30 distribution lines with voltages ranging 
from 5kV to 138kV, which connect to a large pipeline 
installation. This project completed in January 2022.



A POWERFUL 
APPROACH TO 
SUSTAINABILITY
Sustainability begins with our employees. 
We continue to invest in our people, 
giving back to our communities and 
encouraging diversity, equity, and 
inclusion. Diversification of recruitment 
efforts, including expanding our reach 
with new partnerships, allows us to 
attract a diverse talent pool, supporting 
our long-term business goals and growth. 

Our environmental stewardship focuses 
on reducing the impact of our operations, 
serving as a strong partner as we build 
clean energy infrastructure and operating 
in a responsible manner.  

A diverse Board of Directors, 
independent Chair, annual voting for 
Say-on-Pay, and committees comprised 
exclusively of independent directors 
are the cornerstones of MYR Group’s 
Corporate Governance. Additionally, 
the Company’s Code of Ethics requires 
honest and ethical conduct, full and 
accurate public communication and 
compliance with applicable laws, rules 
and regulations.



SAFETY 
IS LIFE
Intertwined in our ESG practices 
and all that we do, is our unrelenting 
dedication to safety. We consistently 
exhibit exemplary performance and 
commit to the well-being of our 
people. Our culture embraces constant 
innovation and improvement in our 
safety practices and is the catalyst 
that sets us apart. We strive to deliver 
the best training, tools, support, and 
mentorship to every employee. In 
turn, we expect and receive behavioral 
excellence and integrity that fuels the 
success and innovation necessary to 
remain an industry-leader in safety.

ACHIEVEMENTS
Our top tier safety programs and 
performance continue to receive 
elite recognition from industry 
associations that honor excellence, 
including maintaining OSHA’s 
Voluntary Protection Programs 
STAR status for over a decade. Only 
two in 1,000 sites demonstrate this 
level of commitment. 

Constant innovation and improvement 
of our safety practices enhances our 
ability to attain solid safety statistics 
year after year.



FINANCIAL 
SUMMARY

NOTES

(1) EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure that management believes is useful to investors in understanding MYR Group’s results of 
operations. A reconciliation of EBITDA to its GAAP counterpart (net income) is provided in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) STOCK TICKER 
SYMBOL 
NASDAQ: MYRG  Total current assets $ 748,390 $ 636,684

  Property and equipment, net 196,092 185,114

  Goodwill 66,065 66,065

  Intangible assets, net 49,054 51,365

  Other assets 61,491 56,631

  Total assets $ 1,121,092 $ 995,859

  Current liabilities $ 498,599 $ 443,400

  Long-term debt 3,464 25,039

  Other long-term liabilities 99,927 98,128

  Stockholders’ equity 519,102 429,292

  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,121,092 $ 995,859

SUMMARY
BALANCE
SHEET

  Backlog $ 1,789,144 $ 1,649,456

  Net cash provided by operating activities $ 137,228 $ 175,167

  Expenditures for property and equipment $ 52,361 $ 44,355

  EBITDA (1) $ 164,240 $ 132,392

  Contract revenues $ 2,498,289 $ 2,247,392

  Gross profit $ 324,981 $ 275,853

  Income from operations $ 118,560 $ 86,545

  Net income $ 85,006 $ 58,759

  Diluted earnings per share $ 4.95 $ 3.48

SUMMARY
INCOME
STATEMENT

OTHER
SUMMARY
DATA

2021 2020

FORM 10-K 
A copy of the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K 
will be provided without 
charge upon written request 
to the Company’s Secretary.

AUDITORS
Crowe LLP
1 Mid America Plaza
Suite 700
Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181

REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER AGENT
American Stock Transfer 
& Trust Company, LLC
6201 15th Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219
800.937.5449

STOCKHOLDER 
INQUIRIES
Dresner Corporate Services
David Gutierrez, Senior VP
10 South LaSalle Street, 
Suite 2170
Chicago, IL 60603
312.780.7204
dgutierrez@dresnerco.com
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain various forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 
“Exchange Act”), which represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions concerning future events. When used in this 
document and in documents incorporated by reference, forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements 
regarding financial forecasts or projections, and our expectations, beliefs, intentions or future strategies that are signified by the 
words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “objective,” “outlook,” “plan,” “project,” 
“possible,” “potential,” “should,” “unlikely,” or other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. The 
forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
We disclaim any obligation to update these statements (unless required by securities laws) and we caution you not to rely on them 
unduly. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and assumptions about future events. While 
our management considers these expectations and assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently subject to significant 
business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingencies and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to 
predict, and many of which are beyond our control. These and other important factors, including those discussed in Item 1A 
— “Risk Factors” of this report, and in any risk factors or cautionary statements contained in our other filings with the SEC, may 
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

We are a holding company of specialty electrical construction service providers that was established in 1995 through the 
merger of long-standing specialty contractors. Through our subsidiaries, we serve the electric utility infrastructure, commercial 
and industrial construction markets. Our operations are currently conducted through wholly owned subsidiaries. We primarily 
provide electrical construction services through a network of local offices located throughout the United States and Canada. We 
provide a broad range of services, including design, engineering, procurement, construction, upgrade, maintenance and repair 
services, with a particular focus on construction, maintenance and repair.

Our principal executive offices are located at 12150 East 112th Avenue, Henderson, Colorado 80640. The telephone number 
of our principal executive offices is (303) 286-8000.

Reportable Segments

Through our subsidiaries, we are a leading specialty contractor serving the electric utility infrastructure, commercial and 
industrial construction markets in the United States and Canada. We manage and report our operations through two electrical 
contracting service segments: Transmission and Distribution (“T&D”) and Commercial and Industrial (“C&I”). We generally 
focus on improving our profitability by selecting projects we believe will provide attractive margins, actively monitoring the costs 
of completing our projects, holding customers accountable for costs related to changes to contract specifications and rewarding 
our employees for effectively managing costs.

Transmission and Distribution segment.   We have operated in the transmission and distribution industry since 1891. We are 
one of the largest U.S. contractors servicing the T&D sector of the electric utility industry. We provide a broad range of services 
on electric transmission and distribution networks and substation facilities, which include design, engineering, procurement, 
construction, upgrade, maintenance and repair services, with a particular focus on construction, maintenance and repair, to 
customers in the electric utility industry throughout the United States and Ontario, Canada. Our T&D services include the 
construction and maintenance of high voltage transmission lines, substations, lower voltage underground and overhead 
distribution systems, renewable power facilities and limited gas construction services. We also provide emergency restoration 
services in response to hurricane, ice or other storm-related damage.

In our T&D segment, we generally serve the electric utility industry as a prime contractor, through traditional design-bid-
build or engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) forms of project delivery. We have long-standing relationships with 
many of our T&D customers who rely on us to construct and maintain reliable electric and other utility infrastructure. We also 
provide many services to our customers under multi-year master service agreements (“MSAs”) and other variable-term service 
agreements.

Commercial and Industrial segment.   We have provided electrical contracting services for commercial and industrial 
construction since 1912. Our C&I segment provides services such as the design, installation, maintenance and repair of 
commercial and industrial wiring, the installation of traffic networks and the installation of bridge, roadway and tunnel lighting in 
the United States and western Canada. We concentrate our efforts on projects where our technical and project management 
expertise are critical to successful and timely execution. Typical C&I contracts cover electrical contracting services for airports, 
hospitals, data centers, hotels, stadiums, convention centers, renewable energy projects, manufacturing plants, processing 
facilities, water treatment facilities, mining facilities and transportation control and management systems.

In our C&I segment, we generally provide our electric construction and maintenance services as a subcontractor to general 
contractors, but also contract directly with facility owners. We have a diverse customer base with many long-standing 
relationships.

Additional financial information related to our business segments is provided under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in Note 17 — Segment Information to our Financial Statements.
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Customers

Our T&D customers include many of the leading companies in the electric utility industry. These customers include investor-
owned utilities, cooperatives, private developers, government-funded utilities, independent power producers, independent 
transmission companies, industrial facility owners and other contractors. Our C&I customer base includes general contractors, 
commercial and industrial facility owners, governmental agencies and developers.

We have long-standing relationships with many of our customers, and we cultivate these relationships at all levels of our 
organization from senior management to project supervisors. We seek to build upon our customer relationships to secure 
additional projects from our current customer base. Many of our customer relationships originated decades ago and are 
maintained through a partnering approach, which includes project evaluation and consulting, quality performance, performance 
measurement and direct customer contact. At all levels of management, we maintain a focus on pursuing growth opportunities 
with prospective customers. In addition, our management teams promote and market our services for prospective large-scale 
projects and national accounts. We believe that our industry experience, technical expertise, customer relationships and emphasis 
on safety and customer service contribute to obtaining new contracts with both existing and new customers.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, our top 10 customers accounted for 34.9%, 32.7%, and 30.8%, of 
our revenues, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, no single customer accounted for more than 
10.0% of annual revenues.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, revenues derived from T&D customers accounted for 52.1%, 51.4% 
and 54.8% of our total revenues, respectively, and revenues derived from C&I customers accounted for 47.9%, 48.6% and 45.2% 
of our total revenues, respectively.

Types of Service Arrangements and Bidding Process

We enter into contracts principally through a competitive bid process. Our typical construction project begins with the 
preparation and submission of a bid to a customer. If selected as the successful bidder, we generally enter into a contract with the 
customer that provides for payment upon completion of specified work or units of work as identified in the contract. Most of our 
contracts, including MSAs, may be terminated by our customers on short notice, typically 30 to 90 days, even if we are not in 
default under the contract. Although there is considerable variation in the terms of the contracts we undertake, our contracts are 
primarily structured as:

• fixed-price agreements, under which we agree to perform the defined scope for a fixed amount;
• unit-price agreements, under which we agree to perform the work at a fixed price per unit of work as specified in the 

agreement;
• time-and-equipment and time-and-materials contracts, under which we agree to perform the work at negotiated hourly 

billing rates for labor and equipment and for other expenses, including materials, as incurred, at rates agreed to in the 
contract; and

• cost-plus contracts, where we are paid for our costs plus a negotiated margin.

On occasion, time-and-equipment, time-and-materials and cost-plus contracts include shared savings clauses, in which the 
contract includes a target price and we agree to share savings from that target price with our customer.

Fixed-price and unit-price contracts typically have higher potential margins; however, they hold a greater risk in terms of 
profitability because cost overruns may not be recoverable. Time-and-equipment, time-and-materials and cost-plus contracts have 
less margin upside, but generally have a lower risk of cost overruns. Work in our T&D segment is generally completed under 
fixed-price, time-and-materials, time-and-equipment, unit-price and cost-plus agreements. Work in our C&I segment is typically 
performed under fixed-price, time-and-materials, cost-plus, and unit-price agreements. Fixed-price contracts accounted for 61.0% 
of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, including 43.0% of our total revenue for our T&D segment and 80.5% of 
our total revenue for our C&I segment.

Our EPC contracts are typically fixed-price and may be entered into through joint ventures. We may act as the prime 
contractor for an EPC project where we perform the procurement and construction functions but use a subcontractor to perform 
the engineering component, or we may use a subcontractor for both engineering and procurement functions. We may also act as a 
subcontractor on an EPC project to an engineering firm or general contractor. When acting as a subcontractor for an EPC project, 
we typically provide construction services only, although we may also perform both the construction and procurement functions.
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Our T&D segment also provides services under MSAs that cover maintenance, upgrade and extension services, as well as 
new construction. Work performed under MSAs is typically billed on a unit-price, time-and-materials or time-and-equipment 
basis. MSAs are typically one to three years in duration. Under MSAs, customers generally agree to contract with us for certain 
services in a specified geographic region. A majority of our MSAs do not include obligations to assign specific volumes of work 
to us nor do they grant us exclusivity, although in some cases certain work under the MSA may be subject to our right of first 
refusal. Many of our contracts, including MSAs, are open to bidding at expiration and generally attract numerous bidders.

A portion of the work we perform requires financial assurances in the form of performance and payment bonds, letters of 
credit or other guarantees at the time of execution of the contract. Many of our contracts include retention provisions of up to 
10%, which are generally withheld from each progress payment as retainage until the contract work has been completed and 
approved.

Materials

In many cases, our T&D customers are responsible for supplying materials on projects; however, under certain contracts, we 
may agree to provide all or a portion of the required materials. For our C&I contracts, we usually procure the necessary materials 
and supplies. We are not dependent on specific suppliers for materials or supplies.

Subcontracting

We are the prime contractor for the majority of our T&D projects, however, we occasionally perform work as a 
subcontractor, and we may elect to do so from time-to-time on larger projects in order to manage our execution risk. We are a 
subcontractor to a general contractor for the majority of our C&I projects, but may contract directly with facility owners. We may 
utilize subcontractors to perform portions of our contracts and to manage workflow, particularly for design, engineering, and 
procurement under both segments.

We often work with subcontractors who are sole proprietorships or small business entities. Subcontractors normally provide 
their own employees, vehicles, tools and insurance coverages. We are not dependent on any single subcontractor. Our contracts 
with subcontractors often contain provisions limiting our obligation to pay the subcontractor if our client has not paid us. We hold 
our subcontractors responsible for their work or delays in their performance. When we perform work as a subcontractor we are 
often only paid after the general or prime contractor is paid. On larger projects, we may require performance and payment 
bonding from subcontractors, where we deem appropriate, based on the risk involved. 

Competition

Our business is highly competitive in both our T&D and C&I segments. Competition in both of our business segments is 
primarily based on the price of the construction services and upon the reputation for safety, quality and reliability of the 
contractor. The competition we encounter can vary depending upon the type and location of construction services.

We believe that the principal competitive factors that customers consider in our industry are:
• price and flexible contract terms;
• safety programs and safety performance;
• technical expertise and experience;
• management team experience;
• reputation and relationships with the customer;
• geographic presence and breadth of service offerings;
• willingness to accept risk;
• quality of service execution;
• specialized equipment, tooling and centralized fleet structure;
• the availability of qualified and licensed personnel;
• adequate financial resources and bonding capacity;
• technological capabilities; and
• weather-damage restoration abilities and reputation.

While we believe our customers consider a number of factors when selecting a service provider, most of their work is 
awarded through a bid process where price is always a principal factor. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors — Our industry is highly 
competitive.”
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T&D Competition

Our T&D segment competes with a number of companies in the local markets where we operate, ranging from small local 
independent companies to large national firms. There are many national or large regional firms that compete with us for T&D 
contracts including, among others, Asplundh Construction Corp., Davis H. Elliot Company, Inc., MasTec, Inc., Michels 
Corporation, Pike Corporation, Power Line Services, Inc., Primoris Services Corporation and Quanta Services, Inc.

There are a number of barriers to entry into the transmission markets, including the cost of equipment and tooling necessary 
to perform transmission work, availability of qualified labor, scope of typical transmission projects and technical, managerial and 
supervisory skills necessary to complete the job. Larger transmission projects generally require specialized heavy duty equipment 
as well as strong financial resources to meet the cash flow, bonding or letter of credit requirements of these projects. These factors 
sometimes reduce the number of potential competitors on these projects. The number of firms that generally compete for any one 
significant transmission infrastructure project varies greatly depending on a number of factors, including the size of the project, its 
location and the bidder qualification requirements imposed upon contractors by the customer. Some of our competitors restrict 
their operations to one geographic area while others operate nationally and internationally.

Compared to the transmission markets, there are fewer significant barriers to entry into the distribution markets in which we 
operate. As a result, any organization that has adequate financial resources and access to technical expertise can compete for 
distribution projects. Instead of outsourcing, some of our T&D customers also employ personnel internally to perform similar 
types of distribution services that we provide.

C&I Competition

Our C&I segment predominately competes with a number of regional or local firms and with subsidiaries of national firms. 
There are few significant barriers to entry in the C&I markets, and there are a number of small companies that compete for C&I 
business. The size, location and technical requirements of the project will impact which competitors we will encounter when 
bidding on any particular project.

A major competitive factor in our C&I segment is the individual relationships that we and our competitors have developed 
with general contractors who typically manage the bid process, along with the willingness to be an exclusive partner with the 
general contractor on pursuits requiring the complete finance, design and construction services for the project. Additionally, the 
equipment requirements for C&I work are generally not as significant as that of T&D construction. Since C&I construction 
typically involves the purchase of materials, the financial resources to procure the required materials and equipment of a particular 
project may impact the competition that we encounter. We differentiate ourselves from our competitors by bidding for larger and 
more technically complex projects, which we believe many of our smaller competitors may not be capable of executing 
effectively or profitably. We believe that we have a favorable competitive position in the markets that we serve, due in part to our 
strong operating history, strong local market share, our reputation and our relationships with our customers.

Project Bonding Requirements and Parent Guarantees

Many customers, particularly in connection with new construction, require us to post performance and payment bonds issued 
by a financial institution known as a surety. These bonds provide a guarantee to the customer that we will perform under the terms 
of a contract and that we will pay subcontractors and vendors. If we fail to perform under a contract or pay subcontractors and 
vendors, the customer may demand that the surety make payments or provide services under the bond. We are required to 
reimburse the surety for its expenses incurred in performing its obligations under the bond. We believe that the strength of our 
balance sheet, as well as our strong and long-standing relationship with our sureties, enhances our ability to obtain adequate 
financing and bonds. These bonds are typically issued at the face value of the contract awarded. As of December 31, 2021, we had 
approximately $406.0 million in original face amount of bonds outstanding for projects in our T&D segment and approximately 
$983.3 million for projects in our C&I segment. Our estimated remaining cost to complete these bonded projects for both 
segments was approximately $607.0 million as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $542.8 
million in original face amount of bonds outstanding for projects in our T&D segment and approximately $789.1 million for 
projects in our C&I segment. The ability to post bonds provides us with a competitive advantage over smaller or less financially 
secure competitors.

From time to time we guarantee the obligations of our subsidiaries, including obligations under certain contracts with 
customers, certain lease agreements and, in some states, obligations in connection with obtaining contractors’ licenses. 
Additionally, from time to time we are required to post letters of credit to guarantee the obligations of our subsidiaries, which 
reduces the borrowing availability under our credit facility.
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Trade Names and Intellectual Property

We operate in the United States under a number of trade names, including: The L. E. Myers Co.; Harlan Electric Company; 
Great Southwestern Construction, Inc.; Sturgeon Electric Company, Inc.; MYR Energy Services, Inc.; E.S. Boulos Company; 
High Country Line Construction, Inc.; Sturgeon Electric California, LLC; GSW Integrated Services, LLC; Huen Electric, Inc. and 
CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc. We operate in Canada under the following trade names: MYR Transmission Services Canada, 
Ltd.; Northern Transmission Services, Ltd; Western Pacific Enterprises Ltd; Powerline Plus Ltd. and PLP Redimix Ltd. We do 
not generally register our trade names, but instead rely on statutory and common law protection. While we consider our trade 
names to be valuable assets, we do not consider any single trade name to be of such material importance that its absence would 
cause a material disruption to our business. We also do not materially rely upon any patents, licenses or other intellectual 
property.

Equipment

Our long history in the T&D industry has allowed us to be instrumental in designing much of the specialty tools and 
equipment used in the industry, including wire pullers, wire tensioners and aerial devices. We operate a fleet of trucks and trailers, 
support vehicles, bulldozers, bucket trucks, digger derricks and cranes and specialty construction equipment, such as wire pullers 
and wire tensioning machines. We also rely on specialized tooling, including stringing blocks, wire grips and presses. The 
standardization of our trucks and trailers allows us to streamline training, maintenance and parts costs. We operate a centralized 
fleet facility, as well as numerous regional maintenance shops throughout the United States, that are staffed with over 150 
mechanics and equipment managers who service our fleet. Our ability to internally service our fleet in various markets often 
allows us to reduce repair costs and the time equipment is out of service by eliminating both the need to ship equipment long 
distances for repair and dependence on third party maintenance providers. Our maintenance shops are also able to modify 
standard construction equipment to meet the specific needs of our specialty applications. We are a final-stage manufacturer for 
several configurations of our specialty vehicles, and, in the event that a particular piece of equipment is not available to us, we can 
often build the component on-site, which reduces our reliance on our equipment suppliers.

Our United States based fleet of equipment is managed by our centralized fleet management group. Our fleet is highly 
mobile, which gives us the ability to shift resources from region-to-region quickly and to effectively respond to customer needs or 
major weather events. Our centralized fleet management group is designed to enable us to optimize and maintain our equipment 
to achieve the highest equipment utilization, which helps to maintain a competitive position with respect to our equipment costs. 
We develop internal equipment rates that provide our business units with appropriate pricing levels to estimate their bids for new 
projects more accurately. The fleet management group works with our business units in prioritizing the use of our fleet assets. The 
fleet management group also manages the procurement and disposition of equipment and short-term rentals. All of these factors 
are critical in allowing us to operate efficiently and meet our customers’ needs. Equipment needs in Canada are managed by our 
Canadian operating subsidiaries.

Regulation

Our operations are subject to various laws and regulations including:
• licensing, permitting and inspection requirements applicable to contractors, electricians and engineers;
• regulations relating to worker safety and environmental protection;
• licensing, permitting and inspection requirements applicable to construction projects;
• building and electrical codes;
• special bidding and procurement requirements on government projects; and
• local laws and government acts regulating work on protected sites.

We believe that we are in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and we believe that we have all material 
licenses required to conduct our operations. Our failure to comply with applicable regulations could result in project delays, cost 
overruns, remediation costs, substantial fines and revocation of our operating licenses.

We are also required to comply with increasingly complex and changing laws and regulations enacted to protect business and 
personal data regarding privacy, data protection and data security, including those related to the collection, storage, use, 
transmission and protection of personal information and other customer, vendor or employee data. In addition, health and safety 
regulations (including laws or regulations promulgated in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic) may require increased 
operating costs or capital investments to promote a safe working environment. With respect to the laws and regulations noted 
above, as well as other applicable laws and regulations, the Company's compliance programs may under certain circumstances 
involve material investments in the form of additional processes, training, personnel, information technology and capital. For a 
discussion of the risks associated with certain applicable laws and regulations, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors."
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Environmental Matters

As a result of our current and past operations, we are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations governing our 
operations, including the use, transport and disposal of non-hazardous and hazardous substances and wastes, as well as emissions 
and discharges into the environment, including discharges to air, surface water, groundwater and soil. We also are subject to laws 
and regulations that impose liability and cleanup responsibility for releases of hazardous substances into the environment. Under 
certain of these laws and regulations, such liabilities can be imposed for cleanup of previously owned or operated properties, or 
properties to which hazardous substances or wastes were discharged by current or former operations at our facilities, regardless of 
whether we directly caused the contamination or violated any law at the time of discharge or disposal. The presence of 
contamination from such substances or wastes could interfere with ongoing operations or adversely affect our ability to sell, lease 
or otherwise use our properties in certain ways such as collateral for possible financing. We could also be held liable for 
significant penalties and damages under certain environmental laws and regulations, which could materially and adversely affect 
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We believe that we are in substantial compliance with environmental laws and regulations and that any obligations related to 
environmental matters should not have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Additionally, there are significant environmental regulations under consideration to encourage the use of clean energy 
technologies and regulate emissions of greenhouse gases to address climate change. We regularly monitor the various proposals in 
this regard. Although the impact of climate change regulations on our business will depend on the specifics of governmental 
policies, legislation, and regulation, we believe that we will be well-positioned to adapt our business to meet new regulations. See 
“Item 1A. Risk Factors — Our failure to comply with environmental and other laws and regulations could result in significant 
liabilities” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors — We are subject to risks associated with climate change including financial risks and 
physical risks such as an increase in extreme weather events (such as floods, wildfires or hurricanes), rising sea levels and 
limitations on water availability and quality."

Cyclical Nature of Business and Seasonality

The demand for construction and maintenance services from our customers is cyclical in nature, particularly in our T&D 
segment, and vulnerable to downturns in the industries we serve as well as the economy in general. As a result, our volume of 
business could be adversely affected by declines or delays in new projects in various geographic regions.

Although our revenues are primarily driven by spending patterns in our customers’ industries, our revenues and results of 
operations can be subject to seasonal and other variations. These variations are influenced by weather, daylight hours, availability 
of system outages from utilities and holidays. For example, during the winter months, demand for our T&D work may be high, 
but our work can be delayed due to inclement weather. During the summer months, the demand for our T&D work may be 
affected by fewer available system outages due to peak electrical demands caused by warmer weather which limits our ability to 
perform electrical line service work. During the spring and fall months, the demand for our T&D work may increase due to 
improved weather and system availability; however, extended periods of rain and other severe weather can affect the deployment 
of our crews and the efficiency of our operations.

Human Capital Resources

We believe that our people are our greatest assets and the success and growth of our business depend in large part on our 
ability to attract, develop and retain a diverse population of talented, qualified and highly skilled employees at all levels of our 
organization, including the individuals who comprise our workforce as well as our executive officers and other key personnel. We 
have developed key recruitment and retention strategies, objectives and measures that serve as the framework for our human 
capital management approach and guide the overall management of our business. These strategies, objectives and measures are 
advanced through a number of programs, policies and initiatives, including those related to: health and safety; inclusion, diversity, 
and equality; employee recruitment, training and development; and compensation and benefits programs.
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Website Access to Company Reports

Our website address is www.myrgroup.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current 
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act 
will be available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or 
furnished to, the SEC. The information on our website is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated into any 
other filings we make with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should read the following risk factors carefully in connection with evaluating our business and the forward-looking 
information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We operate in a changing environment that involves numerous known 
and unknown risks and uncertainties that could affect our operations. The risks described below highlight some of the factors that 
have affected, and in the future could affect, our operations. Although the risks are organized by heading, and each risk is
described separately, many of the risks are interrelated. Additional risks we do not yet know of, or that we currently think are 
immaterial, may also affect our operations. You should not interpret the disclosure of any risk factor to imply that the risk has not
already materialized. If any of the events or circumstances described in the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be affected and our stock price could decline.

Industry & Market Risks

Our operating results may vary significantly from period to period.

Our business can be highly cyclical and subject to seasonal and other variations that can result in significant differences in 
operating results from period to period. Additionally, our results may be materially and adversely affected by:

• the timing and volume of work under contract;
• increased competition and changes in the competitive marketplace for our services;
• the spending patterns of customers and governments;
• safety performance and reputation;
• increased costs of performance of our services caused by adverse weather conditions;
• cost overruns on fixed-price and unit-price contracts;
• decreased equipment utilization;
• delays on projects due to permitting, regulatory issues or customer-caused delays;
• disputes with customers relating to payment terms under our contracts and change orders, and our ability to successfully 

negotiate and obtain payment or reimbursement under our contracts and change orders;
• variations in the margins of projects performed during any particular reporting period;
• changes in the demand for our services;
• schedule delays, equipment and materials availability and increasing insurance, equipment, labor and material costs related 

to the continued market disruption from the COVID-19 pandemic and regulatory slowdowns;
• the timing and integration of acquisitions and the magnitude of the related acquisition and integration costs;
• the loss of a major customer;
• changes in the mix of our customers, contracts and business;
• the amount of subcontractor and material costs in our projects;
• payment risk associated with the financial condition of our customers;
• increases in design, construction and operating costs, due to inflation or other unforeseen causes, that we are unable to pass 

through to our customers;
• the termination or expiration of existing agreements;
• regional and general economic conditions and the condition of the financial markets;
• losses experienced in our operations not otherwise covered by insurance;
• costs we incur to support growth internally or otherwise;
• availability of qualified labor for specific projects;
• supply chain interruptions, including as a result of natural disasters, wildfires, weather, labor disputes, pandemic outbreak 

of disease, fire or explosions and power outages;
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• liabilities associated with participation in joint ventures related to third party failures;
• the inability to secure sufficient funding to finance continuing operations, fund growth or to provide the required financial 

resources certain large projects may require;
• significant fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
• significant fluctuations in interest rates;
• changes in bonding requirements applicable to existing and new agreements;
• costs associated with our multi-employer pension plan obligations;
• the availability of equipment;
• impairment of goodwill or intangible assets; and
• warranty claims.

Accordingly, our operating results in any particular reporting period may not be indicative of the results that can be expected 
for any other reporting period.

Our industry is highly competitive.

Our industry is fragmented and we compete with other companies, ranging from small, independent firms servicing local 
markets to larger firms servicing regional, national and international markets. Relatively few barriers prevent entry into the C&I 
market and the distribution market. As a result, any organization that has adequate financial resources and access to technical 
expertise may become one of our competitors in those areas. Competition in the industry depends on many factors, including 
pricing of the construction services, the reputation for safety and the quality and reliability of the contractor. Some of our 
competitors may have lower labor and overhead cost structures and, therefore, may be able to provide their services at lower 
prices than ours. In addition, some of our competitors may have greater financial, technological and human resources than we do. 
We cannot be certain that our competitors will not develop the expertise, experience and resources to provide services that are 
superior in both price and quality to our services. Similarly, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain or enhance our 
competitive position within the markets we serve or maintain our customer base at current levels. Additionally, we may face 
competition from in-house service organizations of our existing or prospective customers including electric utility companies and 
others which often employ personnel to internally perform some of the same types of services we do. If we are unable to compete 
successfully in our markets, our operating results could be adversely affected.

Negative economic and market conditions may adversely impact our customers’ future spending and, as a result, our 
operations and growth.

The demand for infrastructure construction and maintenance services from our customers has been, and will likely continue 
to be, cyclical in nature and vulnerable to downturns in the industries we serve as well as the economy in general. Stagnant or 
declining economic conditions could result in the delay, reduction or cancellation of certain projects and could cause our 
customers to outsource less work, which could adversely affect us in the future. Additionally, many of our customers finance their 
projects through the incurrence of debt or the issuance of equity. A reduction in cash flow or the lack of availability of debt or 
equity financing may result in a reduction in our customers’ spending for our services and may also impact the ability of our 
customers to pay amounts owed to us, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and our ability to grow at 
historical levels, or at all. A prolonged economic downturn or recession could adversely affect our customers and their ability or 
willingness to fund capital expenditures in the future or pay for past services. Material fluctuations in energy markets could also 
have an adverse impact on our customers’ spending patterns. Consolidation, competition, capital constraints or negative economic 
conditions in the electric power industry may also result in reduced spending by, or the loss of, one or more of our customers.

Changes to U.S. policies related to global trade and tariffs, as well as retaliatory trade measures implemented by other 
countries, have resulted in uncertainty surrounding the future of the global economy. Increases in the cost of imported raw 
materials or finished goods as a result of tariffs or trade policies may impact customer spending, and reductions in customer 
spending could lead to fewer project awards and more competition We cannot predict the outcome of these changing trade 
policies or other unanticipated political conditions, nor can we predict the timing or strength of any economic recovery or 
downturn worldwide or its impact on our customers’ markets.
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New Project and Growth Risks

We may be unsuccessful in generating internal growth, which could impact the projects available to the Company.

Our ability to generate internal growth will be affected by, among other factors, our ability to:
• attract new customers;
• increase the number of projects performed for existing customers;
• hire and retain qualified personnel;
• successfully bid new projects;
• expand geographically; and
• adapt the range of services we offer to customers to address their evolving construction needs.

In addition, if our customers are constrained in their ability to obtain capital, it could reduce the number, timing or size of 
projects available to us. Many of the factors affecting our ability to generate internal growth may be beyond our control, and we 
cannot be certain that our strategies will be successful, or that we will be able to generate cash flow sufficient to fund our 
operations and support internal growth. If we are unsuccessful, we may not be able to achieve internal growth, expand our 
operations and grow our business.

Our inability to successfully execute or integrate acquisitions or joint ventures may have an adverse impact on our growth 
strategy and business.

From time to time, our business strategy includes expanding our presence in the industries we serve through strategic 
acquisitions of companies or entry into joint ventures that complement or diversify our business. Future acquisition targets that 
meet our criteria may be limited. We may also face competition for acquisition opportunities, and other potential acquirers may 
offer more favorable terms or have greater financial resources available for potential acquisitions. This competition may limit our 
ability to grow through acquisitions or could raise the prices of acquisitions, adversely impacting any accretion that might be 
achieved. Failure to consummate future acquisitions could negatively affect our future growth strategies. Additionally, the 
acquisitions we pursue may involve significant cash expenditures, the incurrence or assumption of debt or burdensome regulatory 
requirements.

Any acquisition may ultimately have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash 
flows. We may not realize the anticipated benefits and synergies of an acquisition, and our attempts at integrating an acquired 
business may not be successful. Acquisitions or joint ventures may expose us to operational and financial challenges and risks, 
including:

• the disruption of our ongoing business;
• significant diversion of resources and management’s attention from our existing business; 
• reductions of cash and other resources available for operations and other uses; 
• exposure to risks specific to the acquired businesses, services, or technologies to which we are not currently exposed; 
• the failure to retain key personnel or customers of an acquired business; 
• difficulties integrating new operations and personnel; 
• failure of acquired companies to achieve the results we expect; and 
• the assumption of unknown liabilities of the acquired business for which there are inadequate reserves and the potential 

impairment of acquired intangible assets. 

Our ability to grow and maintain our competitive position may be affected by our ability to successfully integrate any 
businesses acquired.
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Business and Operating Risks

Project performance issues, including those caused by third parties, or certain contractual obligations may result in additional 
costs to us, reductions or delays in revenues or the payment of penalties, including liquidated damages.

Many projects involve challenging engineering, procurement and construction phases that may occur over several years. We 
may encounter difficulties that impact our ability to complete the project in accordance with the original delivery schedule. These 
difficulties may be the result of delays in designs; engineering information or materials provided by the customer or a third party; 
delays or difficulties in equipment and material delivery; schedule changes; delays from our customer’s failure to timely obtain 
permits, rights-of-way or to meet other regulatory requirements; weather-related delays; delays caused by difficult worksite 
environments; delays caused by inefficiencies and not achieving expected labor performance and other factors, some of which are 
beyond our control. Any delay or failure by suppliers or by third-party subcontractors in the completion of their portion of the 
project may result in delays in the overall progress of the project or may cause us to incur additional costs, or both. We also may 
encounter project delays due to local opposition, which may include injunctive actions as well as public protests, to the siting of 
electric transmission lines, renewable energy projects, or other facilities. We may not be able to recover the costs we incur that are 
caused by delays. Certain contracts have guarantee or bonus provisions regarding project completion by a scheduled acceptance 
date or achievement of certain acceptance and performance testing levels. Failure to meet any of our schedules or performance 
requirements could also result in additional costs or penalties, including liquidated damages, and such amounts could exceed 
expected project profit. In extreme cases, the above-mentioned factors could cause project cancellations. Delays or cancellations 
may impact our reputation or relationships with customers and adversely affect our ability to secure new contracts. Larger projects 
present additional performance risks due to complexity of the work and duration of the project. 

Our customers may change or delay various elements of the project after its commencement. The design, engineering 
information, equipment or materials that are to be provided by the customer or other parties may be deficient or delivered later 
than required by the project schedule, resulting in additional direct or indirect costs. Under these circumstances, we generally 
negotiate with the customer with respect to the amount of additional time required and the compensation to be paid to us. We are 
subject to the risk that we may be unable to obtain, through negotiation, arbitration, litigation or otherwise, adequate amounts to 
compensate us for the additional work or expenses incurred by us due to change orders or failure by others to timely deliver items, 
such as engineering drawings or materials.

We have in the past brought, and may in the future bring, claims against our customers related to, among other things, the 
payment terms of our contracts and change orders relating to our contracts. These types of claims occur due to, among other 
things, customer-caused delays or changes in project scope, both of which may result in additional cost, which may not be 
recovered until the claim is resolved. Additionally, if any of our customers do not proceed with the completion of projects or 
default on their payment obligations, or if we encounter disputes with our customers with respect to the adequacy of billing 
support, we may face difficulties in collecting payment of amounts due to us for the costs previously incurred. In some instances, 
these claims can be the subject of lengthy legal proceedings, and it is difficult to accurately predict when or if they will be fully 
resolved. A failure to promptly recover on these types of claims in the future could have a negative impact on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, any such claims may harm our future relationships with our 
customers.

We may be unable to attract and retain qualified personnel.

Our ability to maintain our productivity and our operating results may be limited by our ability to employ, train and retain 
qualified personnel necessary to operate efficiently and to support our growth strategy. We have from time to time experienced 
shortages of certain types of qualified personnel, such as linemen, field supervisors, project managers and engineers, in certain 
regions. In addition, our projects are sometimes located in remote areas, which can make recruitment and deployment of our 
personnel challenging. During periods with large volumes of storm restoration services work, linemen are frequently recruited 
across geographic regions to satisfy demand. Many linemen are willing to travel to earn premium wages for such work, which 
from time to time makes it difficult for us to retain these workers for ongoing projects when storm conditions persist. The 
commencement of new, large-scale infrastructure projects or increased demand for infrastructure improvements, as well as the 
shrinking electric utility workforce, may reduce the pool of skilled workers available to us. Labor shortages could impair our 
ability to maintain our business or grow our revenues. If we are unable to hire personnel with the requisite skills, we may also be 
forced to incur significant training expenses.
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In addition, the success of our business depends upon the continued efforts and abilities of our executive officers and senior 
management, including the management at our operating subsidiaries. The relationships between our executive officers and senior 
management and our customers are important to obtaining and retaining business. We are also dependent upon our project 
managers and field supervisors who are responsible for managing and recruiting personnel for our projects. There can be no 
assurance that any individual will continue in his or her capacity for any particular period of time. Industry-wide competition for 
managerial talent is high. Given that level of competition, there could be situations where our overall compensation package may 
be viewed as less attractive as compared to our competition, and we may experience the loss of key personnel or higher costs to 
retain and hire key personnel. The loss of key personnel, or the inability to hire and retain qualified personnel, could negatively 
impact our ability to manage our business and relationships with our customers.

The timing of new contracts and termination of existing contracts may result in unpredictable fluctuations in our cash flows 
and financial results.

A substantial portion of our revenues are derived from project-based work that is awarded through a competitive bid process. 
It is generally difficult to predict the timing and geographic distribution of the projects that we will be awarded. The selection of, 
timing of, or failure to obtain projects, delays in awards of projects, the re-bidding or termination of projects due to budget 
overruns, cancellations of projects or delays in completion of contracts could result in the under-utilization of our assets, including 
our fleet of construction equipment, which could lower our overall profitability and reduce our cash flows. Even if we are 
awarded contracts, we face additional risks that could affect when, or whether, work will begin. This can present difficulty in 
matching workforce size and equipment location with contract needs. In some cases, we may be required to bear the cost of a 
ready workforce and equipment that is larger than necessary, which could impact our cash flow, expenses and profitability. If an 
expected contract award or the related work release is delayed or not received, we could incur substantial costs without receipt of 
any corresponding revenues. Moreover, construction projects for which our services are contracted may require significant 
expenditures by us prior to receipt of relevant payments from the customer. Finally, the winding down or completion of work on 
significant projects that were active in previous periods will reduce our revenue and earnings if such significant projects have not 
been replaced in the current period.

Many of our contracts may be canceled upon short notice, typically 30 to 90 days, even if we are not in default under the 
contract, and we may be unsuccessful in replacing contracts, resulting in a decrease in our revenue, net income and liquidity. 
Certain of our customers assign work to us on a project-by-project basis under MSAs. Under these agreements, our customers 
often have no obligation to assign a specific amount of work to us. Our operations could decline significantly if the anticipated 
volume of work is not assigned to us or is canceled. Many of our contracts, including our MSAs, are open to competitive bidding 
at the expiration of their terms. There can be no assurance that we will be the successful bidder on our existing contracts that 
come up for re-bid.

During the ordinary course of our business, we may become subject to lawsuits or indemnity claims.

We have in the past been, and may in the future be, named as a defendant in lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that 
arise in the ordinary course of our business. These actions may seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal 
injury, workers’ compensation, employment discrimination, sexual harassment, workplace misconduct and other employment-
related damages, breach of contract, property damage, environmental liabilities, multiemployer pension plan withdrawal 
liabilities, punitive damages, consequential damages, and civil penalties or other losses or injunctive or declaratory relief. In 
addition, we generally indemnify our customers for claims related to the services we provide and actions we take under our 
contracts, and, in some instances, we may be allocated risk through our contract terms for actions by our customers, 
subcontractors or other third parties. Because our services in certain instances may be integral to the operation and performance of 
our customers’ infrastructure, we have been and may become subject to lawsuits or claims for any failure of the systems that we 
work on, even if our services are not the cause of such failures, and we could be subject to civil and criminal liabilities to the 
extent that our services contributed to any property damage, personal injury or system failure. Insurance coverage may not be 
available or may be insufficient for these lawsuits, claims or legal proceedings. The outcome of any of these lawsuits, claims or 
legal proceedings could result in significant costs and diversion of management’s attention from our business. Payments of 
significant amounts, even if reserved, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows.
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Backlog may not be realized or may not result in profits and may not accurately represent future revenue.

Backlog is difficult to determine accurately, and companies within our industry may define backlog differently. Reductions in 
backlog due to cancellation, termination or scope adjustment by a customer or for other reasons could significantly reduce the 
revenue and profit we actually receive from contracts in backlog. In the event of a project cancellation, termination or scope 
adjustment, we typically have no contractual right to the total revenues reflected in our backlog. The timing of contract awards, 
duration of large new contracts and the mix of services, subcontracted work and material in our contracts can significantly affect 
backlog reporting. Given these factors and our method of calculating backlog, our backlog at any point in time may not accurately 
represent the revenue that we expect to realize during any period, and our backlog as of the end of a fiscal year may not be 
indicative of the revenue we expect to earn in the following fiscal year and should not be viewed or relied upon as a stand-alone 
indicator. Consequently, we cannot provide assurance as to our customers’ requirements or our estimates of backlog. See “Item 1. 
Business — Backlog” for a discussion on how we calculate backlog for our business.

Our insurance has limits and exclusions that may not fully indemnify us against certain claims or losses, including claims 
resulting from wildfires or other natural disasters and an increase in cost, or the unavailability or cancellation of third-party 
insurance coverages would increase our overall risk exposure and may reduce our profitability.

We maintain insurance coverages from third party insurers as part of our overall risk management strategy and most of our 
customer contracts require us to maintain specific insurance coverage limits. We maintain insurance policies with respect to 
automobile liability, general liability, employer’s liability, workers’ compensation, our employee group health program, and other 
types of coverages, but these policies are subject to high deductibles, and we are self-insured up to the amount of those 
deductibles. Insurance losses are accrued based upon our estimates of the ultimate liability for claims reported and an estimate of 
claims incurred but not yet reported. Insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due to unknown factors, including the 
frequency and severity of injuries, the magnitude of damage to or loss of property or the environment, the determination of our 
liability in proportion to other parties, estimates of incidents not reported and the effectiveness of our safety programs, and as a 
result, our actual losses may exceed our estimates. There can be no assurance that our current or past insurance coverages will be 
sufficient or effective under all circumstances or against all claims and liabilities to which we may be subject.

We generally renew our insurance policies on an annual basis; therefore, deductibles and levels of insurance coverages may 
change in future periods. There can be no assurance that any of our existing insurance coverages will be renewed upon the 
expiration of the coverage period or that future coverage will be available at reasonable and competitive rates or at the required 
limits. The cost of our insurance has significantly increased and may continue to increase in the future. In addition, insurers may 
fail, cancel our coverage, increase the cost of coverage, determine to exclude certain items from coverage, or otherwise be unable 
to provide us with adequate insurance coverage. We may not be able to obtain certain types of insurance or incremental levels of 
insurance in scope or amount sufficient to cover liabilities we may incur. For example, due to the recent increase in wildfire losses 
and related insurance claims, insurers have reduced coverage availability and increased the cost of insurance coverage for such 
events in recent years, and our current levels of coverage may not be sufficient to cover potential losses. If our risk exposure 
increases as a result of adverse changes in our insurance coverages, we could be subject to increased liabilities that could 
negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

In addition, we perform work in hazardous environments and our employees are exposed to a number of hazards. Incidents 
can occur, regardless of fault, that may be catastrophic and adversely impact our employees and third parties by causing serious 
personal injury, loss of life, damage to property or the environment, and interruption of operations. Furthermore, we perform a 
significant amount of services for customers that operate electrical power infrastructure assets in locations and climates that are 
more susceptible to wildfires or other natural disasters. In locations or environments where claims have become more frequent or 
severe in recent years, insurance may become difficult or impossible to obtain. Our contracts may require us to indemnify our 
customers, project owners and other parties for injury, damage or loss arising out of our presence at our customers’ location, or in 
the performance of our work, in both cases regardless of fault, and provide for warranties for materials and workmanship. We 
may also be required to name the customer and others as an additional insured under our insurance policies. We maintain limited 
insurance coverage against these and other risks associated with our business. This insurance may not protect us against liability 
for certain events, and we cannot guarantee that our insurance will be adequate in risk coverage or policy limits to cover all losses 
or liabilities that we may incur. Any future damages caused by our services that are not covered by insurance or are in excess of 
policy limits could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Risks associated with operating in the Canadian market could restrict our ability to expand and harm our business and 
prospects.

There are numerous inherent risks in conducting our business in a different country including, but not limited to, potential 
instability in markets, political, economic or social conditions, and difficult or additional legal and regulatory requirements 
applicable to our operations. Limits on our ability to repatriate earnings, exchange controls, and complex U.S. and Canadian laws 
and treaties including laws related to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar laws could also adversely 
impact our operations. Changes in the value of the Canadian dollar could increase or decrease the U.S. dollar value of our profits 
earned or assets held in Canada or potentially limit our ability to reinvest earnings from our operations in Canada to fund the 
financing requirements of our operations in the United States. These risks could restrict our ability to provide services to Canadian 
customers or to operate our Canadian business profitably, and could negatively impact our results. We also are exposed to 
currency risks relating to the translation of certain monetary transactions, assets and liabilities.

Changes in tax laws or our interpretations of tax laws could materially impact our income tax liabilities.

We have operations in the United States and Canada and are subject to the jurisdiction of multiple federal and state taxing 
authorities. The income earned in these various jurisdictions is taxed on different bases which are subject to change by the taxing 
authorities. The final determination of our income tax liabilities involves the interpretation of local tax laws, tax treaties and 
related authorities in each jurisdiction, as well as the significant use of estimates and assumptions regarding the scope of future 
operations and results achieved and the timing and nature of income earned and expenditures incurred. Changes in the operating 
environment, including changes in tax laws, could materially impact our income tax liabilities.

The nature of our business exposes us to potential liability for warranty claims and faulty engineering, which may reduce our 
profitability.

Our customer contracts typically include a warranty for the services that we provide against certain defects in workmanship 
and material. Additionally, materials used in construction are often provided by the customer or are warranted against defects 
from the supplier. Certain projects have longer warranty periods and include facility performance warranties that may be broader 
than the warranties we generally provide. If warranty claims occurred, it could require us to re-perform the services or to repair or 
replace the warranted item, at a cost to us, and could also result in other damages if we are not able to adequately satisfy our 
warranty obligations. In addition, we may be required under contractual arrangements with our customers to warrant any defects 
or failures in materials we provide that we purchase from third parties. While we generally require suppliers to provide us 
warranties that are consistent with those we provide to the customers, if any of these suppliers default on their warranty 
obligations to us, we may incur costs to repair or replace the defective materials for which we are not reimbursed. Costs incurred 
because of warranty claims could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business involves professional judgments regarding the planning, design, development, construction, operations and 
management of electric power transmission and commercial construction. Because our projects are often technically complex, our 
failure to make judgments and recommendations in accordance with applicable professional standards, including engineering 
standards, could result in damages. A significantly adverse or catastrophic event at one of our project sites or completed projects 
resulting from the services we have performed could result in significant warranty, professional liability, or other claims against 
us as well as reputational harm, especially if public safety is impacted. These liabilities could exceed our insurance limits or could 
impact our ability to obtain insurance in the future. In addition, customers, subcontractors or suppliers who have agreed to 
indemnify us against any such liabilities or losses might refuse or be unable to pay us. An uninsured or underinsured claim could 
have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Health outbreaks such as the COVID-19 pandemic may have an adverse impact on our business, employees, liquidity, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

While the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted global supply chains and created significant volatility and disruption 
of financial markets, we have continued to operate without substantial interruption, as most of our operations are considered 
essential. However, future changes to our business, implementation of required, health and safety protocols and other potential 
impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic or other future health outbreaks could result in higher operating costs and could adversely 
impact our business, including certain operational, reporting, accounting or other processes. In addition, an extended period of 
remote work arrangements could impair our ability to effectively manage our business, and introduce additional operational risks, 
including but not limited to cybersecurity risks and increased vulnerability to security breaches, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, 
ransomware, or other similar events and intrusions.

17



As our response to the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact at this time and 
the pandemic could adversely affect, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Such effects may be 
material and the potential impacts include, but are not limited to:

• disruptions in our supply chain due to transportation delays, travel restrictions, raw material cost increases and shortages, 
and closures of businesses or facilities;

• reductions in our operating effectiveness due to workforce disruptions resulting from “shelter-in-place” and “stay-at-home” 
orders, and the unavailability of key personnel necessary to conduct our business activities; and

• volatility in the global financial markets, which could have a negative impact on our ability to access capital and additional 
sources of financing in the future.

As the situation surrounding COVID-19 continues to remains fluid, and given its inherent uncertainty, the pandemic may 
have an adverse impact on our business. Should health outbreaks or the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic conditions worsen or 
persist for a prolonged period, any of the above factors and others that are currently unknown, may have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, we cannot predict the future impact that the 
COVID-19 pandemic will have on our customers and suppliers, and any adverse impacts on these parties may have a material 
adverse impact on our business.

Third Party Partner Risks

Our dependence on suppliers, subcontractors and equipment manufacturers could expose us to the risk of loss in our 
operations.

On certain projects, we rely on suppliers to obtain the necessary materials and subcontractors to perform portions of our 
services. We also rely on equipment manufacturers to provide us with the equipment required to conduct our operations. Although 
we are not dependent on any single supplier, subcontractor or equipment manufacturer, any substantial limitation on the 
availability of required suppliers, subcontractors or equipment manufacturers could negatively impact our operations. The risk of 
a lack of available suppliers, subcontractors or equipment manufacturers may be heightened as a result of market and economic 
conditions. We may experience difficulties in acquiring equipment or materials due to supply chain interruptions, including as a 
result of natural disasters, weather, labor disputes, pandemic outbreak of disease, fire or explosions and power outages. To the 
extent we cannot engage subcontractors or acquire equipment or materials, we could experience losses in the performance of our 
operations. Successful completion of our contracts may depend on whether our subcontractors successfully fulfill their contractual 
obligations. If our subcontractors fail to perform their contractual obligations as a result of financial or other difficulties, or if our 
subcontractors fail to meet the expected completion dates or quality standards, we may be required to incur additional costs or 
provide additional services in order to make up such shortfall and we may suffer damage to our reputation.

Our participation in joint ventures and other projects with third parties may expose us to liability for failures of our partners.

We may enter into joint venture or other strategic arrangements with other parties as part of our business operations. Success 
on a jointly performed project depends in large part on whether all parties satisfy their contractual obligations. Joint venture 
partners are generally jointly and severally liable for all liabilities and obligations of the joint venture. If a joint venture partner 
fails to perform or is financially unable to bear its portion of required capital contributions or other obligations, including 
liabilities relating to claims or lawsuits, we could be required to make additional investments, provide additional services or pay 
more than our proportionate or agreed upon share of a liability to compensate for the partner’s shortfall. In addition, if we are 
unable to adequately address our partner’s performance issues, the customer may terminate the project, which could result in legal 
liability to us, reduce our profit on the project or damage our reputation.

Regulatory and Environmental Risks

Legislative or regulatory actions relating to electricity transmission and renewable energy may impact demand for our 
services.

Current and potential legislative or regulatory actions may impact demand for our services, requiring utilities to meet 
reliability standards, and encourage installation of new electric transmission and renewable energy generation facilities. However, 
it is unclear whether these initiatives will create sufficient incentives for projects or result in increased demand for our services.
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Because most of our T&D revenue is derived from the electric utility industry, regulatory and environmental requirements 
affecting that industry could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Customers in 
the electric utility industry we serve face stringent regulatory and environmental requirements, as well as permitting processes, as 
they implement plans for their projects, which may result in delays, reductions and cancellations of some of their projects. These 
regulatory factors have resulted in decreased demand for our services in the past, and they may do so in the future, potentially 
impacting our operations and our ability to grow at historical levels, or at all.

In addition, while many states have mandates in place that require specified percentages of electricity to be generated from 
renewable sources, states could reduce those mandates or make them optional, which could reduce, delay or eliminate renewable 
energy development in the affected states. Additionally, renewable energy is generally more expensive to produce and may 
require additional power generation sources as backup. The locations of renewable energy projects are often remote and may not 
be viable unless new or expanded transmission infrastructure to transport the electricity to demand centers is economically 
feasible. Furthermore, funding for renewable energy initiatives may not be available. These factors could result in fewer 
renewable energy projects and a delay in the construction of these projects and the related infrastructure, which could negatively 
impact our business.

We may incur liabilities and suffer negative financial or reputational impacts relating to occupational health and safety 
matters, including those related to environmental hazards such as wildfires and other natural disasters.

Our operations are subject to extensive laws and regulations relating to the maintenance of safe conditions in the workplace. 
While we have invested, and will continue to invest, substantial resources in our occupational health and safety programs, our 
industry involves a high degree of operational risk, and there can be no assurance that we will avoid significant liability exposure. 
Our business is subject to numerous safety risks, including electrocutions, fires, explosions, mechanical failures, weather-related 
incidents, transportation accidents and damage to equipment. Furthermore, we perform a significant amount of services for 
customers that operate electrical power infrastructure assets in locations and climates that are more susceptible to wildfires or 
other natural disasters. These hazards can cause personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property and 
equipment and other consequential damages and could lead to suspension of operations, large monetary claims and, in extreme 
cases, criminal liability. Members of our workforce have suffered serious injuries or fatalities in the past and may suffer additional 
serious injuries or fatalities in the future. Monetary claims for damages to persons, including claims for bodily injury or loss of 
life, could result in substantial costs and liabilities. In addition, we have in the past, and we may in the future, be subject to 
criminal penalties relating to occupational health and safety violations, which have resulted in and could in the future result in, 
substantial costs and liabilities. Any of the foregoing could result in financial loss, which could have a material adverse impact on 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our customers seek to minimize safety risks on their sites, and they frequently review the safety records of outside 
contractors during the bidding process. If our safety record were to substantially deteriorate, we could become ineligible to bid on 
certain work, and our customers could cancel our contracts and not award us future business.

Our failure to comply with environmental and other laws and regulations could result in significant liabilities.

Our past, current and future operations are subject to numerous environmental and other laws and regulations governing our 
operations, including the use, transport and disposal of non-hazardous and hazardous substances and wastes, as well as emissions 
and discharges into the environment, including discharges to air, surface water, groundwater and soil. We also are subject to laws 
and regulations that impose liability and cleanup responsibility for releases of hazardous substances into the environment. Under 
certain of these laws and regulations, such liabilities can be imposed for cleanup of previously owned or operated properties, or 
properties to which hazardous substances or wastes were discharged by current or former operations at our facilities, regardless of 
whether we directly caused the contamination or violated any law at the time of discharge or disposal. The presence of 
contamination from such substances or wastes could interfere with ongoing operations or adversely affect our ability to sell, lease 
or otherwise use our properties in ways such as collateral for possible financing. We could also be held liable for significant 
penalties and damages under certain environmental laws and regulations, which could materially and adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, new laws and regulations, stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulations, the discovery of previously 
unknown contamination or leaks, or the imposition of new permitting or cleanup requirements could require us to incur significant 
costs or become the basis for new or increased liabilities that could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. In certain instances, we have obtained indemnification or covenants from third parties (including our predecessor 
owners or lessors) for some or all of such cleanup and other obligations and liabilities. However, such third-party indemnities or 
covenants may not cover all of our costs.
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Legislative and regulatory proposals to address greenhouse gas emissions could result in a variety of regulatory programs, 
additional charges to fund energy efficiency activities, or other regulatory actions. Any of these actions could result in increased 
costs associated with our operations and impact the prices we charge our customers. If new regulations are adopted regulating 
greenhouse gas emissions from mobile sources such as cars and trucks, we could experience a significant increase in 
environmental compliance costs due to our large fleet. In addition, if our operations are perceived to result in high greenhouse gas 
emissions, our reputation could suffer.

We are also subject to laws and regulations protecting endangered species, artifacts and archaeological sites. We may incur 
work stoppages to avoid violating these laws and regulations, or we may risk fines or other sanctions for accidentally or willfully 
violating these laws and regulations. We are also subject to immigration laws and regulations, for which noncompliance could be 
material and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Furthermore, failure to obtain permitting, right-of-way access and other tactical considerations prior to the commencement of 
work could delay the commencement of work on projects or cause modifications of work plans, potentially resulting in lower 
margins. We generally plan for certain up-front time and other costs to obtain required permitting and right-of-way access and for 
other tactical challenges prior to the commencement of work on our projects. Delays in obtaining, or the inability to obtain, 
permits or right-of-way access, could negatively impact our margins due to additional cost and unabsorbed overhead resulting 
from under-utilized personnel and equipment. Additionally, we may encounter unexpected tactical issues on the site which could 
lead to unanticipated costs and delays, which we may not be able to recover from our customers.

Our business may be affected by seasonal and other variations, including severe weather conditions and the nature of our 
work environment.

Although our revenues are primarily driven by spending patterns in our customers’ industries, our revenues and results of 
operations can be subject to seasonal variations, particularly in our T&D segment. These variations are influenced by weather, 
hours of daylight, customer spending patterns, available system outages from utilities and holidays, and can have a significant 
impact on our gross margins. Our profitability may decrease during the winter months and during severe weather conditions 
because work performed during these periods may be restricted and more costly to complete. Additionally, our T&D customers 
often cannot remove their T&D lines from service during the summer months when consumer demand for electricity is at its peak, 
delaying the demand for our maintenance and repair services. Furthermore, our work is performed under a variety of conditions, 
including but not limited to, difficult terrain, difficult site conditions and large urban centers where delivery of materials and 
availability of labor may be impacted and sites which may have been exposed to harsh and hazardous conditions. Working capital 
needs are also influenced by the seasonality of our business. We generally experience a need for additional working capital during 
the spring when we increase outdoor construction in weather-affected regions of the country, and we convert working capital 
assets to cash during the winter months.

Opportunities associated with government contracts could lead to increased governmental regulation applicable to us.

Most government contracts are awarded through a regulated competitive bidding process. If we were to be successful in 
being awarded government contracts, significant costs could be incurred by us before any revenues were realized from these 
contracts. Government agencies may review a contractor’s performance, cost structure and compliance with applicable laws, 
regulations and standards. If government agencies determine through these reviews that costs were improperly allocated to 
specific contracts, they will not reimburse the contractor for those costs or may require the contractor to refund previously 
reimbursed costs. If government agencies determine that we engaged in improper activity, we may be subject to civil and criminal 
penalties. Government contracts are also subject to renegotiation of profit and termination by the government prior to the 
expiration of the term.

We are subject to risks associated with climate change including financial risks and physical risks such as an increase in 
extreme weather events (such as floods, wildfires or hurricanes), rising sea levels and limitations on water availability and 
quality.

Climate change may create physical and financial risk. Physical risks from climate change could, among other things, include 
an increase in extreme weather events (such as floods, wildfires or hurricanes), rising sea levels and limitations on water 
availability and quality. Such extreme weather conditions may limit the availability of resources, increasing the costs of our 
projects, or may cause projects to be delayed or cancelled.

20



Additionally, legislative and regulatory responses related to climate change and new interpretations of existing laws through 
climate change litigation may also negatively impact our operations. The cost of additional environmental regulatory requirements 
could impact the availability of goods and increase our costs. International treaties or accords could also have an impact on our 
business to the extent they lead to future governmental regulations. Compliance with any new laws or regulations regarding the 
reduction of greenhouse gases could result in significant changes to our operations and a significant increase in our cost of 
conducting business.

Accounting Risks

Our use of percentage-of-completion accounting could result in a reduction or reversal of previously recognized revenues and 
profits.

A significant portion of our revenues is recognized over the contract term based on costs incurred under the cost-to-cost 
method. This method is used because management believes costs incurred best represent the amount of work completed and 
remaining on our projects and is the most common basis for computing percentage of completion in our industry. The percentage-
of-completion accounting practice we use results in our recognizing contract revenues and earnings ratably over the contract term 
in proportion to our incurrence of contract costs. The earnings or losses recognized on individual contracts are based on estimates 
of contract revenues, costs and profitability. Contract losses are recognized in full when determined, and contract profit estimates 
are adjusted based on ongoing reviews of contract profitability. In addition, we record adjustments to estimated costs of contracts 
when we believe the change in estimate is probable and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. These adjustments could result 
in both increases and decreases in profit margins. Actual results could differ from estimated amounts and could result in a 
reduction or elimination of previously recognized earnings. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results from Operations — Critical Accounting Policies” and in the notes to our Financial Statements, for a 
discussion on how percentage-of-completion accounting impacts our business.

Our financial results are based upon estimates and assumptions that may differ from actual results.

In preparing our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
(“GAAP”), estimates and assumptions are used by management in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
revenues and expenses recognized during the periods presented and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities known to exist 
as of the date of the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions must be made because certain information that is used 
in the preparation of our financial statements is dependent on future events. These estimates and assumptions cannot be calculated 
with a high degree of precision from data available or is not capable of being readily calculated. In some cases, these estimates are 
particularly difficult to determine, and we must exercise significant judgment.

The most significant estimates we use are related to costs to complete contracts, pending change orders and claims, shared 
savings, insurance reserves, income tax reserves, estimates surrounding stock-based compensation, the recoverability of goodwill 
and intangibles, and accounts receivable reserves.

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected by impairments to 
goodwill, other intangible assets, receivables, long-lived assets or investments. For example, when we acquire a business, we 
record goodwill in an amount equal to the amount we paid for the business minus the fair value of the net tangible assets and other 
intangible assets of the acquired business. Goodwill and other intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives cannot be 
amortized, but instead must be tested at least annually for impairment. For additional description on this impairment testing, 
please read Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical 
Accounting Policies — “Goodwill and Intangibles”. Any future impairments, including impairments of goodwill, intangible 
assets, long-lived assets or investments, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.
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Pricing and Cost Risks

Our actual costs may be greater than expected in performing our fixed-price and unit-price contracts.

We generate a significant portion of our revenues and profits under fixed-price and unit-price contracts. We must estimate the 
costs of completing a particular project when we bid for these types of contracts. The actual cost of labor and materials, however, 
may vary from the costs we originally estimated and we may not be successful in recouping additional costs from our customers. 
These variations, along with other risks inherent in performing fixed-price and unit-price contracts, may cause actual revenue and 
gross profits for a project to differ from those we originally estimated and could result in reduced profitability or losses on 
projects due to changes in a variety of factors such as:

• failure to properly estimate costs of engineering, material, equipment or labor;
• inefficient labor performance;
• unanticipated technical problems with the materials or services being supplied by us, which may require us to incur 

additional costs to remedy the problem;
• project modifications that create unanticipated costs;
• changes in the costs of equipment, materials, labor or subcontractors;
• the failure of our suppliers or subcontractors to perform;
• difficulties in our customers obtaining required governmental permits or approvals;
• site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid;
• the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;
• an increase in the cost of fuel or other resources;
• changes in local laws and regulations;
• delays caused by local weather conditions, third parties or customers; and
• quality issues requiring rework.

An increase in the prices or availability of certain materials and commodities used in our business could adversely affect our 
business.

For certain contracts, we are exposed to market risk of increases in certain commodity prices of materials, such as copper and 
steel, which are used as components of supplies or materials utilized in all of our operations. We are also exposed to the 
availability of these materials which have been impacted by the supply-chain disruption from the COVID-19 pandemic and 
regulatory slowdowns. In addition, our customers’ capital budgets may be impacted by the prices of certain materials, and reduced 
customer spending could lead to fewer project awards and more competition. These prices could be materially impacted by 
general market conditions and other factors, including U.S. trade relationships with other countries or the imposition of tariffs. We 
are also exposed to increases in energy prices, particularly as they relate to fuel prices for our fleet vehicles. While we believe we 
can increase our prices to adjust for some price increases in commodities, there can be no assurance that price increases of 
commodities, if they were to occur, would be recoverable. Additionally, some of our fixed price contracts do not allow us to 
adjust our prices and, as a result, increases in material or fuel costs could reduce our profitability with respect to such projects. 

Capital and Credit Risks

We may not be able to compete for, or work on, certain projects if we are not able to obtain necessary bonds, letters of credit, 
bank guarantees or other financial assurances.

Many of our contracts require that we provide security to our customers for the performance of their projects in the form of 
bonds, letters of credit, bank guarantees or other financial assurances. Current or future market conditions, including losses 
incurred in the construction industry or as a result of large corporate bankruptcies, as well as changes in our sureties’ assessment 
of our operating and financial risk, could cause our surety providers and lenders to decline to issue or renew, or substantially 
reduce the amount of, bid or performance bonds for our work and could increase our costs associated with collateral. These 
actions could be taken on short notice. If our surety providers or lenders were to limit or eliminate our access to bonding, letters of 
credit or guarantees, our alternatives would include seeking capacity from other sureties and lenders, finding more business that 
does not require bonds or allows for other forms of collateral for project performance, such as cash. We may be unable to secure 
these alternatives in a timely manner, on acceptable terms, or at all, which could affect our ability to bid for or work on future 
projects requiring financial assurances. 
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We have also granted security interests in various assets to collateralize our obligations to our sureties and lenders. 
Furthermore, under standard terms in the surety market, sureties issue or continue bonds on a project-by-project basis and can 
decline to issue bonds at any time or require the posting of additional collateral as a condition to issuing or renewing any bonds. If 
we were to experience an interruption or reduction in the availability of bonding capacity as a result of these or any other reasons, 
we may be unable to compete for or work on certain projects that would require bonding.

Employee Risks

Work stoppages or other labor issues with our unionized workforce could adversely affect our business, and we may be subject 
to unionization attempts.

As of December 31, 2021, approximately 92% of our craft labor employees were covered by collective bargaining 
agreements. Although most of these agreements prohibit strikes and work stoppages, we cannot be certain that strikes or work 
stoppages will not occur in the future. Strikes or work stoppages could adversely impact our relationships with our customers and 
could cause us to lose business, resulting in decreased revenues. From time to time, we have experienced attempts to unionize our 
nonunion businesses. Such efforts often delay work and present the risk of labor unrest. If nonunion employees were to unionize, 
we could experience higher ongoing labor costs.

Multi-employer pension plan obligations related to our unionized workforce could adversely impact our earnings.

Our collective bargaining agreements may require us to participate with other companies in various multi-employer pension 
plans. To the extent that we participate in any multi-employer pension plans that are underfunded, the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended by the Multi-Employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980, may subject us to 
substantial liabilities under those plans if we were to withdraw from them, if they were terminated or experience a mass 
withdrawal. Furthermore, the Pension Protection Act of 2006, as amended, imposes additional funding and operational rules 
applicable to plan years beginning after 2007 for multi-employer pension plans that are classified as either “endangered,” 
“seriously endangered” or “critical” status. Plans in these classifications must adopt measures to improve their funded status, 
which may require additional employer contributions and/or modifications to employee benefits based on future union wages 
paid.

Although we are not currently aware of any potential significant liabilities to us as a result of these plans being classified as 
being in a “critical” or “endangered” status, our future financial results could be impacted by the amended funding rules.

Cybersecurity and Information Technology Risks

We rely on information, communications and data systems in our operations and we or our business partners may be subject 
to failures, interruptions or breaches of such systems, which could affect our operations or our competitive position, expose 
sensitive information or damage our reputation.

We and our business partners are heavily reliant on information and communications technology and related systems to 
conduct our business. We also rely on third-party software and information technology to run certain of our critical accounting, 
project management and financial information systems. Furthermore, in connection with our business we may collect and retain 
personally identifiable and other sensitive information of our customers and personnel, all of which expect that we will adequately 
protect such information. The failure of these systems to operate effectively or problems with transitioning to upgraded or 
replacement systems could cause delays and reduce the efficiency of our operations, which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows, and significant costs could be incurred to remediate any 
problem. In addition, the risk of cyber-based attacks is heightened with many of our employees working and accessing our 
technology infrastructure remotely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Increased IT security threats and more sophisticated computer crimes, including advanced persistent threats, computer 
viruses, ransomware, other types of malicious code, hacking, phishing and social engineering schemes designed to provide access 
to our networks or data, pose a potential risk to the security of our IT systems, networks and services, as well as the 
confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. If the IT systems, networks or service providers we rely upon fail to function 
properly, or if we suffer a loss or disclosure of sensitive information, we may suffer interruptions in our ability to manage 
operations, be subject to government enforcement actions, litigation, and reputational, competitive and business harm which may 
adversely impact our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows, competitive position and reputation.
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As techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized 
until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. As 
cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to comply with new cyber-related 
regulations, continue to enhance our information security measures or investigate and remediate any information security 
vulnerabilities. Our remediation efforts may not be successful and could result in interruptions, delays or cessation of service. This 
could also impact the cost and availability of cyber insurance to us. Additionally, due to recent increases in cyber losses by the 
insurance industry, cyber insurance coverage may be limited and/or subject to a significant increase in cost. Furthermore, our 
relationships with, and access provided to, third parties and their vendors may create difficulties in anticipating and implementing 
adequate preventative measures or mitigating harms after an attack or breach occurs.

During the normal course of business, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience attempts to compromise our 
information and communications technology and related systems. To date, no cybersecurity incident or attack has had a material 
impact on our business or results of operations. If a material, actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the public 
perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and we could lose customers. Any such material 
disruptions or breaches of security would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows.

In addition, current and future laws and regulations governing data privacy and the unauthorized disclosure of confidential 
information may pose complex compliance challenges and/or result in additional costs. A failure to comply with such laws and 
regulations could result in penalties or fines, legal liabilities and/or harm our reputation. The continuing and evolving threat of 
cyber-attacks has also resulted in increased regulatory focus on risk management and prevention. New cyber-related regulations 
or other requirements could cause us to incur significant costs, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 12150 East 112th Avenue, Henderson, Colorado 80640 in a building that we 
own. In addition to our executive offices, certain legal, accounting and other personnel are located in this building. As of 
December 31, 2021, we owned 18 operating facilities and leased many other properties in various locations throughout our 
service territories. Most of our properties are used as operational offices or for fleet operations. We believe that our facilities are 
adequate for our current operating needs. We do not believe that any owned or leased facility is material to our operations and, if 
necessary, we could obtain replacement facilities for our leased facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are, from time-to-time, party to lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. 
These actions typically seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal injury, breach of contract and/or property 
damages, punitive damages, civil and criminal penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. With respect to all such 
lawsuits, claims and proceedings, we record reserves when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss 
can be reasonably estimated. We do not believe that any of these proceedings, separately or in the aggregate, would be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

We are routinely subject to other civil claims, litigation and arbitration, and regulatory investigations arising in the ordinary 
course of our past and present businesses as well as in respect of our divested businesses. Some of these include claims related to 
our services and operations, we believe that we have strong defenses to these claims as well as insurance coverage that will 
contribute to any settlement or liability in the event claims are not resolved in our favor. These claims have not had a material 
impact on us to date, and we believe the likelihood that a future material adverse outcome will result from these claims is remote. 
However, if facts and circumstances change in the future, we cannot be certain that an adverse outcome of one or more of these 
claims would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock, par value $0.01, is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “MYRG.”

Holders of Record

As of February 18, 2022, we had 6 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have neither declared nor paid any cash dividend on our common stock since our common stock began trading publicly 
on August 12, 2008. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, 
subject to compliance with legal requirements and covenants under any existing financing agreements, which may restrict or limit 
our ability to declare or pay dividends, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, 
general business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Purchases of Common Stock

We did not purchase any shares of common stock in October, November or December of 2021.

Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall be deemed “furnished” and not “filed” for purposes of 
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and such information shall not be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the 
Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares, for the period from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2021, the cumulative total 
stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (the “S&P 500 
Index”), the Russell 2000 Index, and a peer group index selected by our management that includes eleven publicly traded 
companies within our industry (the “Peer Group”). The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2016 and 
further assumes any dividends were reinvested quarterly. The stock price performance reflected on the following graph is not 
necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

The companies in the Peer Group were selected because they comprise a broad group of publicly traded companies, each of 
which has some operations similar to ours. When taken as a whole, the Peer Group more closely resembles our total business than 
any individual company in the group while reducing the impact of a significant change in any one of the Peer Group company’s 
stock price. For 2021, we removed Aegion Corporation from our Peer Group because they are no longer publicly traded. The Peer 
Group is composed of the following companies:

Astec Industries, Inc. Granite Construction Incorporated Primoris Services Corporation*
Comfort Systems USA, Inc. IES Holdings, Inc. Quanta Services, Inc.*
Dycom Industries, Inc. MasTec, Inc.* Tetra Tech, Inc.
EMCOR Group* Matrix Service Company

___________________________

* Considered our core group of peers with a more significant portion of operations being similar to ours than the overall group. 
Graph presents entire Peer Group.
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Overview-Introduction

We are a holding company of specialty electrical construction service providers that was established in 1995 through the 
merger of long-standing specialty contractors. Through our subsidiaries, we serve the electric utility infrastructure, commercial 
and industrial construction markets. We manage and report our operations through two electrical contracting service segments: 
Transmission and Distribution (“T&D”) and Commercial and Industrial (“C&I”).

We have operated in the transmission and distribution industry since 1891. We are one of the largest U.S. contractors 
servicing the T&D sector of the electric utility industry and provide T&D services throughout the United States and in Ontario, 
Canada. Our T&D customers include many of the leading companies in the electric utility industry. We have provided electrical 
contracting services for commercial and industrial construction since 1912. Our C&I segment provides services in the United 
States and in western Canada. Our C&I customers include facility owners and general contractors.

We believe that we have a number of competitive advantages in both of our segments, including our skilled workforce, 
extensive centralized fleet, proven safety performance and reputation for timely completion of quality work that allows us to 
compete favorably in our markets. In addition, we believe that we are better capitalized than some of our competitors, which 
provides us with valuable flexibility to take on additional and more complex projects.

We had revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $2.50 billion compared to $2.25 billion for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, net income was $85.0 million compared to $58.8 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020.

Overview-Segments

Transmission and Distribution segment.   Our T&D segment provides comprehensive solutions to customers in the electric 
utility industry. Our T&D segment generally serves the electric utility industry as a prime contractor to customers such as 
investor-owned utilities, cooperatives, private developers, government-funded utilities, independent power producers, independent 
transmission companies, industrial facility owners and other contractors. We have long-standing relationships with many of our 
T&D customers who rely on us to construct and maintain reliable electric and other utility infrastructure. Our T&D segment 
provides a broad range of services on electric transmission and distribution networks and substation facilities, which include 
design, engineering, procurement, construction, upgrade, maintenance and repair services, with a particular focus on construction, 
maintenance and repair. Our T&D services include the construction and maintenance of high voltage transmission lines, 
substations, lower voltage underground and overhead distribution systems, renewable power facilities and limited gas 
construction services. We also provide many services to our customers under multi-year master service agreements (“MSAs”) and 
other variable-term service agreements.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our T&D revenues were $1.30 billion, or 52.1%, of our revenue, compared to $1.15 
billion, or 51.4%, of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 and $1.13 billion, or 54.8%, of our revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2019. Revenues from transmission projects represented 62.0%, 64.6%, and 68.1% of T&D segment revenue 
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Our T&D segment also provides restoration services in response to hurricanes, ice storms or other storm related events, 
which accounted for less than 5% of our annual revenues in 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Measured by revenues in our T&D segment, we provided 43.0%, 44.0% and 49.7% of our T&D services under fixed-price 
contracts during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We also provide many services to our 
customers under multi-year maintenance service agreements and other variable service agreements.

Commercial and Industrial segment.   Our C&I segment provides a wide range of services including design, installation, 
maintenance and repair of commercial and industrial wiring, the installation of traffic networks and the installation of bridge, 
roadway and tunnel lighting. In our C&I segment, we generally provide our electric construction and maintenance services as a 
subcontractor to general contractors in the C&I industry as well as directly to facility owners. We have a diverse customer base 
with many long-standing relationships. We concentrate our efforts on projects where our technical and project management 
expertise are critical to successful and timely execution. The majority of C&I contracts cover electrical contracting services for 
airports, hospitals, data centers, hotels, stadiums, convention centers, renewable energy projects, manufacturing plants, processing 
facilities, water treatment facilities, mining facilities and transportation control and management systems.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our C&I revenues were $1.20 billion, or 47.9%, of our revenue, compared to $1.09 
billion, or 48.6%, of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 and $936.7 million, or 45.2%, of our revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2019.
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Measured by revenues in our C&I segment, we provided 80.5%, 82.7% and 74.8% of our services under fixed-price contracts 
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Overview-Revenue and Gross Margins

Revenue Recognition.   We recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for goods or services provided. Revenue associated with 
contracts with customers is recognized over time as our performance creates or enhances customer controlled assets or creates or 
enhances an asset with no alternative use, for which we have an enforceable right to receive compensation as defined under the 
contract. To determine the amount of revenue to recognize over time, we utilized the cost-to-cost method as we believe cost 
incurred best represents the amount of work completed and remaining on our projects, and is the most common basis for 
computing percentage of completion in our industry. As the cost-to-cost method is driven by incurred cost, we calculate 
the percentage of completion by dividing costs incurred to date by the total estimated cost. The percentage of completion is then 
multiplied by estimated revenues to determine inception-to-date revenue. Revenue recognized for the period is the current 
inception-to-date recognized revenue less the prior period inception-to-date recognized revenue. If a contract is projected to result 
in a loss, the entire contract loss is recognized in the period when the loss was first determined and the amount of the loss is 
updated in subsequent reporting periods. Additionally, contract costs incurred to date and expected total contract costs are 
continuously monitored during the term of the contract. Changes in the job performance, job conditions and final contract 
settlements are factors that influence management’s assessment of total contract value and the total estimated costs to complete 
those contracts, and therefore, profit and revenue recognition.

Gross Margins.   Our gross margin can vary between periods as a result of many factors, some of which are beyond our 
control. These factors include: the mix of revenue derived from the industries we serve, the size and duration of our projects, the 
mix of business conducted in different parts of the United States and Canada, the mix in service and maintenance work compared 
to new construction work, the amount of work that we subcontract, the amount of material we supply, changes in labor, 
equipment or insurance costs, seasonal weather patterns, changes in fleet utilization, pricing pressures due to competition, 
efficiency of work performance, fluctuations in commodity prices of materials, delays in the timing of projects and other factors. 
The gross margins we record in the current period may not be indicative of margins in future periods.

Overview-Economic, Industry and Market Factors

We operate in competitive markets, which can result in pricing pressures for the services we provide. Work is often awarded 
through a bidding and selection process, where price is always a principal factor. We generally focus on managing our 
profitability by: selecting projects that we believe will provide attractive margins; actively monitoring the costs of completing our 
projects; holding customers accountable for costs related to changes to contract specifications and rewarding our employees for 
controlling costs.

The demand for construction and maintenance services from our customers has been, and will likely continue to be, cyclical 
in nature and vulnerable to downturns in the markets we serve as well as the economy in general. The financial condition of our 
customers and their access to capital, variations in the margins of projects performed during any particular period, and regional 
and national economic conditions in the United States and Canada may materially affect results. Project schedules, particularly in 
connection with larger, multi-year projects, can also create fluctuations in our revenues. Other market and industry factors, such 
as changes to our customers’ capital spending plans or delays in regulatory approvals can affect project schedules. Changes in 
technology, tax and other incentives and new or changing regulatory requirements affecting the industries we serve can impact 
demand for our services. Additionally, continued economic slowdowns related to the current worldwide COVID-19 pandemic 
could have a significant impact on our business. While we actively monitor economic, industry and market factors affecting our 
business, we cannot predict the impact such factors may have on our future results of operations, liquidity and cash flows. As a 
result of economic, industry and market factors, our operating results in any particular period or year may not be indicative of the 
results that can be expected for any other period or for any other year.
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Overview-Seasonality and Nature of Our Work Environment

Although our revenues are primarily driven by spending patterns in our customers’ industries, our revenues and results of 
operations, particularly those derived from our T&D segment, can be subject to seasonal variations. These variations are 
influenced by weather, daylight hours, availability of system outages from utilities, and holidays. During the winter months, 
demand for our T&D work may be high, but our work can be delayed due to inclement weather. During the summer months, the 
demand for our T&D work may be affected by fewer available system outages, due to peak electrical demands caused by warmer 
weather, which limits our ability to perform electrical line service work. During the spring and fall months, the demand for our 
T&D work may increase due to improved weather conditions and system availability; however, extended periods of rain and other 
severe weather can affect the deployment of our crews and efficiency of operations. Furthermore, our work is performed under a 
variety of conditions in different locations, including but not limited to, difficult terrain, sites which may have been exposed to 
harsh and hazardous conditions, and in large urban centers where delivery of materials and availability of labor may be impacted.

We also provide storm restoration services to our T&D customers. These services tend to have a higher profit margin. 
However, storm restoration service work that is performed under an MSA typically has similar rates to other work under the 
agreement. In addition, deploying employees on storm restoration work may, at times, delay work on other transmission and 
distribution work. Storm restoration service work is unpredictable and can affect results of operations.

Outlook

Our business is directly impacted by the level of spending on T&D infrastructure and the level of C&I electrical construction 
activity across the United States and Canada. We are optimistic about infrastructure spending and believe that industry activity 
will continue in both our transmission and distribution market segments and the drivers for utility investment will remain intact. 
We believe that regulatory reform, state renewable portfolio standards, the aging of the electric grid, and potential overall 
improvement of the economy will positively impact the level of spending by our customers in all of the markets we serve. 
Although competition remains strong, we see these trends as positive factors for us in the future.

We believe proposed legislative actions aimed at supporting infrastructure improvements in the United States may positively 
impact long-term demand, particularly in connection with electric power infrastructure, transportation and renewable energy 
spending. We believe the proposed legislative actions are likely to provide greater long-term opportunity in both of our reporting 
segments. However both of our segments and supporting operations may be subject to delays and pricing volatility due to the 
continued market disruption from the COVID-19 pandemic and regulatory slowdowns. These delays and pricing volatility could 
result in decelerations in project opportunities and awards.

We believe there is an ongoing need for utilities to sustain investment in their transmission systems to improve reliability, 
reduce congestion and connect to new sources of renewable generation. Consequently, we believe we will continue to see 
significant bidding activity on large transmission projects going forward. The timing of multi-year transmission project awards 
and substantial construction activity is difficult to predict due to regulatory requirements and the permitting needed to commence 
construction. Significant construction on any large, multi-year projects awarded in 2022 will likely not begin until 2023. Bidding 
and construction activity for small to medium-size transmission projects and upgrades remain active, and we expect this trend to 
continue, primarily due to reliability and economic drivers.

As a result of reduced spending by United States utilities on their distribution systems for several years, we believe there is a 
need for sustained investment by utilities on their distribution systems to properly maintain or meet reliability requirements. In 
2021, we continued to see increased bidding activity in some of our electric distribution markets, as economic conditions 
improved in those areas. We believe the increased hurricane activity and destruction caused by wildfires will cause a push to 
strengthen utility distribution systems against catastrophic damage. Several industry and market trends are also prompting 
customers in the electric utility industry to seek outsourcing partners rather than performing projects internally. These trends 
include an aging electric utility workforce, increasing costs and staffing constraints. We believe electric utility employee 
retirements could increase with further economic recovery, which may result in an increase in outsourcing opportunities. We 
expect to see an incremental increase in distribution opportunities in the United States and in Ontario, Canada in 2022.

We expect C&I bidding opportunities to continue to be impacted by various recent market disruptions, and as a result the 
ultimate recovery of the C&I market will be heavily dependent on the timing and pace of the United States and Canada economic 
recoveries. We believe that the primary markets we serve may be somewhat less vulnerable to economic slowing, such as health 
care, transportation, data centers, warehousing, renewable energy and water projects. We are hopeful that the service industry and 
small project market could quickly rebound as pent-up demand will need to be addressed.
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In addition, the United States has experienced a decade of economic expansion which has challenged the capacity of public 
water and transportation infrastructure forcing states and municipalities to seek creative means to fund needed expansion. We 
believe the need for expanding public infrastructure will offer opportunity in our C&I segment for several years. We expect the 
long-term growth in our C&I segment to generally track the economic growth of the regions we serve. 

We strive to maintain our status as a preferred provider to our T&D and C&I customers. In an effort to support our growth 
strategy and maximize stockholder returns, we seek to efficiently manage our capital. Through 2021, we continued to implement 
strategies that further expand our capabilities and effectively allocate capital. On January 4, 2022, we acquired all issued and 
outstanding shares of capital stock of Powerline Plus Ltd. and its affiliate (collectively, the “Powerline Plus Companies"), which 
expanded our distribution operations in Canada. On July 15, 2019, we completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of 
CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc. (“CSI”), which expanded our C&I operations in California. Additionally, we ended 2021 with 
$362.7 million available under our credit facility.

We continue to manage our increasing costs for supporting our operations, including increasing insurance, equipment, labor 
and material costs. We believe that our financial position, positive cash flows and other operational strengths will enable us to 
manage the challenges and uncertainties in the markets we serve and give us the flexibility to successfully execute our strategies. 
We continue to invest in developing key management and craft personnel in both our T&D and C&I markets and in procuring the 
specific specialty equipment and tooling needed to win and execute projects of all sizes and complexity. In 2021 and 2020, we 
invested in capital expenditures of approximately $52.4 million and $44.4 million, respectively. Most of our capital expenditures 
supported opportunities in our T&D business. We plan to continue to evaluate our needs for additional equipment and tooling. 

Understanding Backlog

We define backlog as our estimated revenue on uncompleted contracts, including the amount of revenue on contracts for 
which work has not begun, less the revenue we have recognized under such contracts. Backlog may not accurately represent the 
revenues that we expect to realize during any particular period. Several factors, such as the timing of contract awards, the type and 
duration of contracts, and the mix of subcontractor and material costs in our projects, can impact our backlog at any point in time. 
Some of our revenue does not appear in our periodic backlog reporting because the award of the project, as well as the execution 
of the work, can all take place within the period. For many of our unit-price, time-and-equipment, time-and-materials and cost-
plus contracts, we only include projected revenue for a three-month period in the calculation of backlog, although these types of 
contracts are generally awarded as part of MSAs that typically have a one- to three-year duration from execution. Additionally, 
the difference between our backlog and remaining performance obligations is due to the exclusion of a portion of our MSAs under 
certain contract types from our remaining performance obligations as these contracts can be canceled for convenience at any time 
by us or the customer without considerable cost incurred by the customer. Our backlog includes projects that have a written 
award, a letter of intent, a notice to proceed or an agreed upon work order to perform work on mutually accepted terms and 
conditions. Our estimated backlog also includes our proportionate share of our unconsolidated joint venture contracts.

Changes in backlog from period to period are primarily the result of fluctuations in the timing of awards and revenue 
recognition of contracts. Backlog should not be relied upon as a stand-alone indicator of future events.

Understanding Gross Margins

Our gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenues. Gross profit is calculated by subtracting contract costs 
from revenue. Contract costs consist primarily of salaries, wages and benefits to employees, depreciation, fuel and other 
equipment expenses, equipment rentals, subcontracted services, insurance, facilities expenses, materials and parts and supplies. 
Various factors affect our gross margins on a quarterly or annual basis, including those listed below.

Performance Risk.   Margins may fluctuate because of the volume of work and the impacts of pricing and job productivity, 
which can be impacted both favorably and negatively by customer decisions and crew productivity, as well as other factors. When 
comparing a service contract between periods, factors affecting the gross margins associated with the revenues generated by the 
contract may include pricing under the contract, the volume of work performed under the contract, the mix of the type of work 
specifically being performed, the availability of labor resources at expected labor rates and the productivity of the crews 
performing the work. Productivity can be influenced by many factors including the experience level of the crew, whether the work 
is on an open or encumbered right of way, weather conditions, geographical conditions, trade stacking, performance of other sub-
trades, schedule changes, effects of environmental restrictions, equipment availability and regulatory and permitting delays.
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Revenue Mix and Contract Terms.   The mix of revenue derived from the industries we serve will impact gross margins. 
Changes in our customers’ spending patterns in each of the industries we serve can cause an imbalance in supply and demand and, 
therefore, affect margins and mix of revenue by industry served. Storm restoration services typically command higher profit 
margins than other maintenance services. Seasonal and weather factors, as noted below, can impact the timing at which customers 
perform maintenance and repairs, which can cause a shift in the revenue mix. Some of our time-and-equipment, time-and-
materials and cost-plus contracts include shared savings clauses, in which the contract includes a target price and we agree to 
share savings from that target price with our customer. Additionally, new construction work has a higher gross margin than 
maintenance and repair work. New construction work is often obtained on a fixed-price basis, which carries a higher risk than 
other types of pricing arrangements because a contractor can bear the risk of increased expenses. As such, we generally bid fixed-
price contracts with higher profit margins. We typically derive approximately 25% to 45% of our revenue from maintenance and 
repair work that is performed under pre-established or negotiated prices or cost-plus pricing arrangements which generally allow 
us a set margin above our costs. Thus, the mix between new construction work, at fixed-price, and maintenance and repair work, 
at cost-plus, in a given period will impact gross margin in that period. The timing of accounting recognition of such savings can 
impact our margins. In addition, change orders and claims can impact our margins. Costs related to change orders and claims are 
recognized in contract costs when incurred, but revenue related to change orders is only recognized when it is probable that the 
change order will result in an addition to contract value and can be reliably estimated, whereas revenue related to claims is 
recognized only to the extent that contract costs related to the claim have been incurred and when it is probable that the claim will 
result in an addition to contract value which can be reliably estimated. Generally, no profit is recognized on a claim until final 
settlement occurs.

Seasonal, Weather and Geographical.   Seasonal patterns, primarily related to weather conditions and the availability of 
system outages, can have a significant impact on gross margins in a given period. It is typical during the winter months that parts 
of the country may experience snow or rainfall, which can affect our crews’ ability to work efficiently. Additionally, our T&D 
customers often cannot remove their T&D lines from service during the summer months, when consumer demand for electricity is 
at its peak, delaying maintenance and repair services. In both cases, projects may be delayed or temporarily placed on hold. 
Conversely, in periods when weather remains dry and temperatures are moderate, more work can be done, sometimes with less 
cost, which would have a favorable impact on gross margins. The mix of business conducted in different parts of the country 
could also affect margins, as some parts of the country offer the opportunity for higher margins than others due to the geographic 
characteristics associated with the location where the work is being performed. Such characteristics include whether the project is 
performed in an urban versus a rural setting; in a mountainous area or in open terrain; or in normal soil conditions or rocky 
terrain. Site conditions, including unforeseen underground conditions, can also impact margins.

Depreciation and Amortization.   We include depreciation on equipment and finance lease amortization in contract costs. 
This is common practice in our industry, but can make comparability to other companies difficult. We spend a significant amount 
of capital on property, facilities and equipment, with the majority of such expenditures being used to purchase additional 
specialized equipment to enhance our fleet and to reduce our reliance on lease arrangements and short term equipment rentals. We 
believe the investment in specialized equipment helps to reduce our costs, improve our margins and provide us with valuable 
flexibility to take on additional and complex projects.

Material and Subcontract Costs.   Projects that include a greater amount of material or subcontractor costs can experience 
lower overall project gross margins as we typically add a lower mark-up to material and subcontractor costs in our bids than what 
we would to our labor and equipment cost. In addition, successful completion of our contracts may depend on whether our 
subcontractors successfully fulfill their contractual obligations. If our subcontractors fail to satisfactorily perform their contractual 
obligations as a result of financial or other difficulties, we may be required to incur additional costs and provide additional 
services in order to make up such shortfalls. Additionally, we are required to allocate more working capital to projects when we 
are required to provide materials.

Insurance.   Gross margins could be impacted by fluctuations in insurance accruals related to our deductibles and loss history 
in the period in which such adjustments are made. We carry insurance policies, which are subject to high deductibles, for workers’ 
compensation, general liability, automobile liability and other coverages. Losses up to the deductible amounts are accrued based 
upon estimates of the ultimate liability for claims reported and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported.

Fleet Availability, Cost, Utilization, Estimation, and Bidding.   We operate a centrally-managed fleet in the United States in 
an effort to control rising costs and achieve efficient equipment utilization. We also develop internal equipment rates which 
provide our business units with appropriate cost information to estimate bids for new projects. Availability of equipment for a 
particular contract is determined by our internal fleet ordering process which is designed to optimize the use of internal fleet 
assets and allocate equipment costs to individual contracts. We believe these processes allow us to utilize our equipment 
efficiently, which leads to improved gross margins. Transmission and distribution projects can require different types of 
equipment. A significant shift in project mix or timing could impact fleet utilization, causing gross margins to vary. 
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Commercial & Industrial

Revenues for our C&I segment for the year ended December 31, 2021 were $1.20 billion compared to $1.09 billion for the 
year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $103.7 million, or 9.5%, primarily due to an increase in revenue on various-sized 
projects in certain geographic areas. Additionally, revenues during the year ended December 31, 2020 were negatively impacted 
by a slight slowdown of work in certain geographic areas related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Operating income for our C&I segment for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $54.4 million compared to $37.2 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $17.2 million, or 46.1%. The year-over-year increase in operating income 
was primarily due to higher revenues, better-than-anticipated productivity on certain projects and a favorable change order on a 
project. These increases were partially offset by labor and equipment inefficiencies and unfavorable change order adjustments on 
certain projects. Operating income, as a percentage of revenues, for our C&I segment increased to 4.5% for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 from 3.4% for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Corporate

The increase in corporate expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily attributable to higher incentive 
compensation and other employee-related expenses to support operations.

Non-GAAP Measures

EBITDA

EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure used by management that we define as net income attributable to MYR Group Inc. plus net 
income from noncontrolling interests, interest expense net of interest income, income tax expense and depreciation and 
amortization, as shown in the following table. EBITDA does not purport to be an alternative to net income attributable to MYR 
Group Inc. as a measure of operating performance or to net cash flows provided by operating activities as a measure of liquidity. 
We believe that EBITDA is useful to investors and other external users of our Consolidated Financial Statements in evaluating 
our operating performance and cash flow because EBITDA is widely used by investors to measure a company’s operating 
performance without regard to items such as interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which can vary substantially 
from company to company depending upon accounting methods, book value of assets, useful lives placed on assets, capital 
structure and the method by which assets were acquired. Because not all companies define EBITDA as we do, this presentation of 
EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly-titled measures of other companies. We use, and we believe investors benefit 
from, the presentation of EBITDA in evaluating our operating performance because it provides us and our investors with an 
additional tool to compare our operating performance on a consistent basis by removing the impact of certain items that 
management believes do not directly reflect our core operations. 

Using EBITDA as a performance measure has material limitations as compared to net income, or other financial measures as 
defined under GAAP, as it excludes certain recurring items, which may be meaningful to investors. EBITDA excludes interest 
expense net of interest income; however, as we have borrowed money to finance transactions and operations, or invested available 
cash to generate interest income, interest expense and interest income are elements of our cost structure and can affect our ability 
to generate revenue and returns for our stockholders. Further, EBITDA excludes depreciation and amortization; however, as we 
use capital and intangible assets to generate revenues, depreciation and amortization are a necessary element of our costs and 
ability to generate revenue. Finally, EBITDA excludes income taxes; however, as we are organized as a corporation, the payment 
of taxes is a necessary element of our operations. As a result of these exclusions from EBITDA, any measure that excludes 
interest expense net of interest income, depreciation and amortization and income taxes has material limitations as compared to 
net income. When using EBITDA as a performance measure, management compensates for these limitations by comparing 
EBITDA to net income in each period, to allow for the comparison of the performance of the underlying core operations with the 
overall performance of the company on a full-cost, after-tax basis. Using both EBITDA and net income to evaluate the business 
allows management and investors to (a) assess our relative performance against our competitors and (b) monitor our capacity to 
generate returns for our stockholders.
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Liquidity, Capital Resources and Material Cash Requirements

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had working capital of $249.8 million and $193.3 million, respectively. During the 
year ended December 31, 2021, our operating activities provided cash of $137.2 million, compared to $175.2 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. Cash flow from operations is primarily influenced by demand for our services, operating margins, 
timing of contract performance and the type of services we provide to our customers. The $37.9 million year-over-year decline in 
cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to unfavorable net changes in operating assets and liabilities of $74.3 
million, partially offset by a $26.2 million increase in net income, a $8.9 million increase in deferred income taxes and a $1.8 
million increase in non-cash stock compensation expense. The unfavorable change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily 
due to net unfavorable year-over-year changes in various working capital accounts that relate primarily to the timing of costs 
incurred on work performed that does not coincide with the billing terms (accounts receivable, contract assets, accounts payable 
and contract liabilities) of $28.8 million, unfavorable changes of $34.8 million in other liabilities was primarily due to payments 
related to our deferral under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") in 2020, timing of other 
employee related wage and tax payments and higher employee incentive compensation accruals. In addition we used cash of $9.9 
million in prepaid expenses and other assets. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we used net cash of $49.3 million and $40.9 million, respectively, in 
investing activities. The $49.3 million of cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2021 consisted of $52.4 
million for capital expenditures, partially offset by $3.1 million of proceeds from the sale of equipment. The $40.9 million of cash 
used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of $44.4 million for capital expenditures, partially 
offset by $3.4 million of proceeds from the sale of equipment.

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we used cash of $28.1 million, and $124.3 million, respectively in 
financing activities. The $28.1 million of cash used in financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2021 consisted 
primarily of  $24.9 million of net repayments under our master equipment loan agreements and $3.4 million of cash used to 
purchase shares surrendered by employees to satisfy tax obligations under our stock compensation programs during the year 
ended December 31, 2021. The $124.3 million of cash used in financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted 
primarily of $103.8 million of net repayments under our revolving line of credit, $32.6 million of net repayments under our master 
equipment loan agreements, $1.2 million of repayments of finance lease obligations and  $0.7 million of cash used to purchase 
shares surrendered by employees to satisfy tax obligations under our stock compensation programs. These uses of cash during the 
year ended December 31, 2020, were partially offset by $0.7 million of cash provided by proceeds from the exercise of stock 
options.

We believe that our $362.7 million borrowing availability under our revolving line of credit at December 31, 2021, future 
cash flow from operations and our ability to utilize short- and long-term leases will provide sufficient liquidity for our short- and 
long-term needs. Our primary short-term liquidity needs include cash for operations, debt service requirements, capital 
expenditures, acquisition and joint venture opportunities and $12.6 million of remaining payroll tax deferrals provided under the 
CARES Act, which will be paid by the end of next year. We believe that we have an adequate source of liquidity to meet our 
long-term liquidity needs and foreseeable material cash requirements, including those associated with the acquisition of the 
Powerline Companies on January 4, 2022, which was funded through a combination of cash on hand and borrowings under our 
line of credit. We continue to invest in developing key management and craft personnel in both our T&D and C&I markets and in 
procuring the specific specialty equipment and tooling needed to win and execute projects of all sizes and complexity.

We have not historically paid dividends and currently do not expect to pay dividends.
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Debt Instruments

Credit Agreement

On September 13, 2019, we entered into a five-year amended and restated credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a 
syndicate of banks led by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. The Credit Agreement provides for a facility 
of $375 million (the “Facility”), subject to certain financial covenants as defined in the Credit Agreement, that may be used for 
revolving loans of which $150 million may be used for letters of credit. The Facility also allows for revolving loans and letters of 
credit in Canadian dollars and other currencies, up to the U.S. dollar equivalent of $75 million. We have an expansion option to 
increase the commitments under the Facility or enter into incremental term loans, subject to certain conditions, by up to an 
additional $200 million upon receipt of additional commitments from new or existing lenders. Subject to certain exceptions, the 
Facility is secured by substantially all of our assets and the assets of our domestic subsidiaries and by a pledge of substantially all 
of the capital stock of our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock of our direct foreign subsidiaries. Additionally, 
subject to certain exceptions, our domestic subsidiaries also guarantee the repayment of all amounts due under the Credit 
Agreement. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Credit 
Agreement, amounts outstanding under the Facility may be accelerated and may become or be declared immediately due and 
payable. Borrowings under the Facility are used for refinancing existing debt, working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, 
share repurchases and other general corporate purposes.

Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (1) the Alternate Base 
Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement), plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.00% to 0.75%; or (2) Adjusted LIBO Rate 
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.00% to 1.75%. The applicable margin is 
determined based on our consolidated leverage ratio (“Leverage Ratio”) which is defined in the Credit Agreement as Consolidated 
Total Indebtedness (as defined in the Credit Agreement) divided by Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement). 
Letters of credit issued under the Facility are subject to a letter of credit fee of 1.00% to 1.75% for non-performance letters of 
credit or 0.50% to 0.875% for performance letters of credit, based on our consolidated Leverage Ratio. We are subject to a 
commitment fee of 0.15% to 0.25%, based on our consolidated Leverage Ratio, on any unused portion of the Facility. The Credit 
Agreement restricts certain types of payments when our consolidated Leverage Ratio exceeds 2.50 or our consolidated Liquidity 
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) is less than $50 million.

Under the Credit Agreement, we are subject to certain financial covenants and are limited to a maximum consolidated 
Leverage Ratio of 3.0 and a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.0. The minimum interest coverage ratio is defined in the Credit 
Agreement as Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) divided by interest expense (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement). The Credit Agreement also contains a number of covenants, including limitations on asset sales, investments, 
indebtedness and liens. We were in compliance with all of the financial covenants under the Credit Agreement as of 
December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had no debt outstanding under the Facility.

Letters of Credit

Some of our vendors require letters of credit to ensure reimbursement for amounts they are disbursing on our behalf, such as 
to beneficiaries under our insurance programs. In addition, from time-to-time certain customers require us to post letters of credit 
to ensure payment to our subcontractors and vendors under those contracts and to guarantee performance under our contracts. 
Such letters of credit are generally issued by a bank or similar financial institution. The letter of credit commits the issuer to pay 
specified amounts to the holder of the letter of credit if the holder claims that we have failed to perform specified actions in 
accordance with the terms of the letter of credit. If this were to occur, we would be required to reimburse the issuer of the letter of 
credit. Depending on the circumstances of such a reimbursement, we may also have to record a charge to earnings for the 
reimbursement. Currently, we do not believe that it is likely that any claims will be made under any letter of credit.

At December 31, 2021, we had $12.3 million in letters of credit outstanding under our Credit Agreement at an interest rate of 
1.125%, which are almost entirely related to the Company's payment obligation under its insurance programs. At December 31, 
2020, we had $10.4 million in letters of credit outstanding under our Credit Agreement, including $9.8 million, at an interest rate 
of 1.125%, related to the Company’s payment obligation under its insurance programs and approximately $0.6 million, at an 
interest rate of 0.625%, related to contract performance obligations.
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Equipment Notes

We have entered into multiple Master Loan Agreements with multiple banks. The Master Loan Agreements may be used for 
financing of equipment between us and the lending banks pursuant to one or more equipment notes (“Equipment Note”). Each 
Equipment Note constitutes a separate, distinct and independent financing of equipment and contractual obligation.

As of December 31, 2021, we had one outstanding Equipment Note collateralized by equipment and vehicles owned by us.  
The outstanding balance of this Equipment Note was $4.5 million as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, we had 
outstanding short-term and long-term Equipment Notes of approximately $1.0 million and $3.5 million, respectively.  In addition 
to regularly scheduled payments we retired three of our Equipment Notes during the year ended December 31, 2021. As of 
December 31, 2020, we had four outstanding Equipment Notes collateralized by equipment and vehicles owned by us. The 
outstanding balance of these Equipment Notes was $29.4 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had 
outstanding short-term and long-term Equipment Notes of approximately $4.4 million and $25.0 million, respectively.

Lease Obligations

From time-to-time, the Company enters into non-cancelable leases for some of our facility, vehicle and equipment needs. 
These leases allow the Company to conserve cash by paying a monthly lease rental fee for the use of facilities, vehicles and 
equipment rather than purchasing them. The Company’s leases have remaining terms ranging from one to six years, some of 
which may include options to extend the leases for up to five years, and some of which may include options to terminate the 
leases within one year. Typically, the Company has purchase options on the equipment underlying its long-term leases and many 
of its short-term rental arrangements. The Company may exercise some of these purchase options when the need for equipment is 
on-going and the purchase option price is attractive. 

The outstanding balance of operating lease obligations was $21.0 million as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 
2021, we had outstanding short-term and long-term operating lease obligations of approximately $7.8 million and $13.2 million, 
respectively. The outstanding balance of operating lease obligations was $22.3 million as of December 31, 2020. As of 
December 31, 2020, we had outstanding short-term and long-term operating lease obligations of approximately $6.6 million and 
$15.7 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2021, we had no outstanding finance lease obligations. As of December 31, 2020, our outstanding short-
term finance lease obligations was $0.3 million.

Purchase Commitments for Construction Equipment

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $9.2 million in outstanding purchase obligations for certain construction 
equipment to be paid with cash outlays scheduled to occur over the first eight months of 2022.

Performance and Payment Bonds and Parent Guarantees

Many customers, particularly in connection with new construction, require us to post performance and payment bonds issued 
by a financial institution known as a surety. These bonds provide a guarantee to the customer that we will perform under the terms 
of a contract and that we will pay subcontractors and vendors. If we fail to perform under a contract or to pay subcontractors and 
vendors, the customer may demand that the surety make payments or provide services under the bond. We must reimburse our 
sureties for any expenses or outlays they incur. Under our continuing indemnity and security agreements with our sureties, with 
the consent of our lenders under the Credit Agreement, we have granted security interests in certain of our assets to collateralize 
our obligations to the surety. We may be required to post letters of credit or other collateral in favor of the surety or our 
customers. Posting letters of credit in favor of the surety or our customers reduces the borrowing availability under the Credit 
Agreement. To date, we have not been required to make any reimbursements to any of our sureties for bond-related costs. We 
believe that it is unlikely that we will have to fund significant claims under our surety arrangements. As of December 31, 2021, an 
aggregate of approximately $1.39 billion in original face amount of bonds issued by our sureties were outstanding. Our estimated 
remaining cost to complete these bonded projects was approximately $607.0 million as of December 31, 2021.

From time to time we guarantee the obligations of our wholly owned subsidiaries, including obligations under certain 
contracts with customers, certain lease agreements, and, in some states, obligations in connection with obtaining contractors’ 
licenses. Additionally, from time to time we are required to post letters of credit to guarantee the obligations of our wholly owned 
subsidiaries, which reduces the borrowing availability under our credit facility.

38



Concentration of Credit Risk

We grant trade credit under contractual payment terms, generally without collateral, to our customers, which include high 
credit quality electric utilities, governmental entities, general contractors and builders, owners and managers of commercial and 
industrial properties. Consequently, we are subject to potential credit risk related to changes in business and economic factors. 
However, we generally have certain statutory lien rights with respect to services provided. Under certain circumstances such as 
foreclosures or negotiated settlements, we may take title to the underlying assets in lieu of cash in settlement of receivables. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, none of our customers individually exceeded 10.0% of our accounts receivable.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 — Organization, Business and Significant Accounting 
Policies in the Notes to our Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Financial Statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities known to exist 
at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We 
evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates. We 
believe the following accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our 
Financial Statements:

Revenue Recognition.   We recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for goods or services provided. Revenue associated with 
contracts with customers is recognized over time as our performance creates or enhances customer-controlled assets or creates or 
enhances an asset with no alternative use, for which we have an enforceable right to receive compensation as defined under the 
contract. To determine the amount of revenue to recognize over time, we estimate profit by determining the difference between 
total estimated revenue and total estimated cost of a contract. In addition, we estimate a cost accrual every quarter that represents 
unbilled invoicing activity for services performed by subcontractors and suppliers during the quarter, and estimate revenue from 
the contract cost portion of this accrual based on current gross margin rates to be consistent with our cost method of revenue 
recognition. The estimated value of unbilled amounts are determined using a regression analysis that estimates value based on our 
historical experience, and is adjusted for large individual projects. The profit and corresponding revenue is recognized over the 
contract term based on costs incurred under the cost-to-cost method. We utilized the cost-to-cost method as we believe cost 
incurred best represents the amount of work completed and remaining on our projects, and is the most common basis for 
computing percentage of completion in our industry. For purposes of recognizing revenue, we follow the five-step approach 
outlined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606-10-25.

As the cost-to-cost method is driven by incurred cost, we calculate the percentage of completion by dividing costs incurred to 
date by the total estimated cost. The percentage of completion is then multiplied by estimated revenues to determine inception-to-
date revenue. Revenue recognized for the period is the current inception-to-date recognized revenue less the prior period 
inception-to-date recognized revenue. If a contract is projected to result in a loss, the entire contract loss is recognized in the 
period when the loss was first determined and the amount of the loss is updated in subsequent reporting periods. Because our 
billings are based on contract terms and do not coincide with our progress in a project, revenue recognition also includes an 
amount related to our contract asset or contract liability. If the recognized revenue is greater than the amount billed to the 
customer, a contract asset is recorded. Additionally, the contract asset includes retainage billed to the customer that cannot be 
collected until the contract work has been completed and approved. Conversely, if the amount billed to the customer is greater 
than the recognized revenue, a contract liability is recorded. Additionally, the contract liability includes a liability for the excess 
of costs over revenues for all contracts that are in a loss position.
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Contract costs incurred to date and expected total contract costs are continuously monitored during the term of the contract. 
Changes in the job performance, job conditions and final contract settlements are factors that influence management’s assessment 
of total contract value and the total estimated costs to complete those contracts, and therefore, profit and revenue recognition. 
Additionally, we estimate costs to complete on fixed price contracts which are determined on an individual contract basis by 
evaluating each project’s status as of the balance sheet date, and using our historical experience with the level of effort required to 
complete the underlying project. Claims and change orders are also measured based on our historical experience with individual 
customers and similar contracts, and are evaluated by management individually. A change order is a modification to a contract 
that changes the provisions of the contract, typically resulting from changes in scope, specifications, design, manner of 
performance, facilities, equipment, materials, sites, or period of completion of the work under the contract. A claim is an amount 
in excess of the agreed-upon contract price that we seek to collect from our clients or others for client-caused delays, errors in 
specifications and designs, contract terminations, change orders that are either in dispute or are unapproved as to both scope and 
price, or other causes. We include these estimated amounts of variable consideration to the extent that it is probable there will not 
be a significant reversal of revenue. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recognized revenues of $2.4 million and $14.7 
million, respectively, related to significant change orders and/or claims that had been included as contract price adjustments on 
certain contracts, some of which are multi-year projects.

Some of our contracts may have contract terms that include variable consideration such as safety or performance bonuses or 
liquidated damages. In accordance with ASC 606-10-32, we estimate the variable consideration using one of two methods. In 
contracts in which there is a binary outcome, the most likely amount method is used. In instances in which there is a range of 
possible outcomes, the expected value method is used. In accordance with ASC 606-10-32-11, we include the estimated amount 
of variable consideration in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative recognized revenue will not occur when the final outcome of the variable consideration is determined. In contracts in 
which a significant reversal may occur, we use constraint in recognizing revenue on variable consideration. Although we often 
enter into contracts that contain liquidated damage clauses, we rarely incur them, and as such, we do not include amounts 
associated with liquidated damage clauses until it is probable that liquidated damages will occur. These items are continually 
monitored by multiple levels of management throughout the reporting period.

A portion of the work we perform requires financial assurances in the form of performance and payment bonds or letters of 
credit at the time of execution of the contract. Many of our contracts include retention provisions of up to 10%, which are 
generally withheld from each progress payment as retainage until the contract work has been completed and approved.

The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period is dependent on the accuracy of our estimates of the cost 
to complete each project. Cost estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed “bottoms up” approach and we believe 
our experience typically allows us to provide materially reliable estimates. There are a number of factors that can contribute to 
changes in estimates of contract cost and profitability. The most significant of these include, among others:

• the completeness and accuracy of the original bid;
• costs associated with scope changes, change orders or claims;
• costs of labor and/or materials;
• extended overhead due to owner, weather and other delays;
• subcontractor performance issues;
• changes in productivity expectations;
• site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid (to the extent contract remedies are unavailable);
• the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project; and 
• a change in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials.

The foregoing factors as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at different margins 
may cause fluctuations in gross profit between periods. During the year ended December 31, 2021, changes in estimates 
pertaining to certain projects increased consolidated gross margin by 0.4%. During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
changes in estimates pertaining to certain projects decreased consolidated gross margin by 0.8%.

We provide warranties to customers on a basis customary to the industry; however, the warranty period does not typically 
exceed one year. Historically, warranty claims have not been material.

Total revenues do not include sales tax as we consider ourselves a pass-through conduit for collecting and remitting sales 
taxes. Sales tax and value added tax collected from customers is included in other current liabilities on our consolidated balance 
sheets.
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Insurance.   We carry insurance policies, which are subject to certain deductibles, for workers’ compensation, general 
liability, automobile liability and other coverages. Our deductible for each line of coverage is up to $1.0 million, except for 
wildfire coverage which has a deductible of $2.0 million. We also maintain excess umbrella coverage providing higher layers of 
insurance coverage for losses that exhaust the limits of underlying coverage. A layer of this umbrella coverage requires us to pay 
a portion of any loss within a certain loss range and our potential exposure for such losses is up to approximately $3.8 million. 
Certain health benefit plans are subject to stop-loss limits of up to $0.2 million, for qualified individuals. Losses up to the 
deductible and stop-loss amounts are accrued based upon our estimates of the ultimate liability for claims reported and an estimate 
of claims incurred but not yet reported.

The insurance and claims accruals are based on known facts, actuarial estimates and historical trends. While recorded 
accruals are based on the ultimate liability, which includes amounts in excess of the deductible, a corresponding receivable for 
amounts in excess of the deductible is included in current assets on our consolidated balance sheets.

Stock-Based Compensation.   We determine compensation expense for stock-based awards based on the estimated fair values 
at the grant date and recognize the related compensation expense ratably over the vesting period. We use the straight-line 
amortization method to recognize compensation expense related to stock-based awards, such as restricted stock and restricted 
stock units, that have only service conditions. This method recognizes stock compensation expense on a straight-line basis over 
the requisite service period for the entire award. We recognize compensation expense related to performance awards that vest 
based on internal performance metrics and service conditions on a straight-line basis over the service period, but adjust inception-
to-date expense based upon our determination of the expected achievement of the performance target at each reporting date which 
may vary from zero to 200% of the target performance awards. We recognize compensation expense related to performance 
awards with market-based performance metrics on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. We recognize forfeitures 
as they occur. Shares issued under the Company’s stock-based compensation program are taken out of authorized but unissued 
shares.

Goodwill and Intangibles.   Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized. Intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. We perform either a qualitative or quantitative 
assessment to review goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment on an annual basis. This assessment is 
performed at the beginning of the fourth quarter, or when circumstances change, such as a significant adverse change in the 
business climate or the decision to sell a business, both of which would indicate that impairment may have occurred. Intangible 
assets with finite lives are also reviewed for impairment and tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

A qualitative assessment considers financial, industry, segment and macroeconomic factors, if the qualitative assessment 
indicates a potential for impairment, a quantitative assessment is performed to determine if impairment exists. The quantitative 
assessment begins with a comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit or intangible asset with its carrying value. If the 
carrying amount of the reporting unit or intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss would be recognized in an 
amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of the goodwill allocated to the reporting unit or intangible asset. If the 
carrying value of goodwill or other indefinite lived assets exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded 
in the statement of operations.

As a result of the annual qualitative review process in 2020 and 2019, we determined it was not necessary to perform a 
qualitative assessment. In 2021, we performed a quantitative assessment on our goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
lives, this assessment did not indicate that our goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets were impaired.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.   We do not generally charge interest to our customers, and we 
carry our customer receivables at their face amounts, less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Based on our experience in 
recent years, the majority of customer balances at each balance sheet date are collected within twelve months. As is common 
practice in the industry, we classify all accounts receivable as current assets. The allowance for doubtful accounts associated with 
account receivables was $2.4 million as of December 31, 2021 and $1.7 million as of December 31, 2020.

We grant trade credit, on a non-collateralized basis (with the exception of lien rights against the property in certain cases) to 
our customers, and we are subject to potential credit risk related to changes in business and overall economic activity. We analyze 
specific accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in 
customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. In the event that a customer 
balance is deemed to be uncollectible the account balance is written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We were not parties to any derivative instruments and had no derivative financial instruments during the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Any borrowings under our Facility are based upon interest rates that will vary depending upon the prime rate, Canadian prime 
rate, federal funds effective rate, the NYFRB overnight bank funding rate, CDOR, and LIBOR (or any interest rate replacing 
LIBOR). If the prime rate, Canadian prime rate, federal funds effective rate, the NYFRB overnight bank funding rate, CDOR, or 
LIBOR (or any interest rate replacing LIBOR) rises, any interest payment obligations would increase and have a negative effect 
on our cash flow and financial condition. We currently do not maintain any hedging contracts that would limit our exposure to 
variable rates of interest when we have outstanding borrowings. As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any borrowings under 
our Facility.

Borrowings under our Equipment Notes are at fixed rates established on the date the note was executed.
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10-K at the page number referenced above.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined 
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our Financial Statements for external 
purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, we have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based upon 
the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on this evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021 in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable 
assurances and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Crowe LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited and reported on the 2021 Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has audited the effectiveness of MYR Group’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2021 and has issued an attestation report on MYR Group’s internal control over financial reporting 
which appears herein.

February 23, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of MYR Group Inc. 
Henderson, CO

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MYR Group Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
“financial statements”). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control —  Integrated Framework: (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework: (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. 
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are 
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Evaluation of variable consideration and estimated costs to complete on select long-term fixed price construction contracts 

As described in Note 1 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, Organization, Business, and Significant Accounting 
Policies, and Note 12, Revenue Recognition, the Company recognizes revenue on fixed price construction projects over time 
using the cost-to-cost method.  The amount of contract revenues and gross profit recognized on fixed price construction contracts 
is dependent on the contract price, the actual contract costs incurred, and the forecasted contract revenues and contract costs for 
construction projects. The recognition of revenue on fixed price construction contracts involves significant estimates based on 
specific project conditions and performance and due to uncertainty about estimates of costs to complete, and uncertainty in the 
outcome of discussions with customers on the valuation of change orders and claims. The Company measures progress towards 
completion using the cost-to-cost method, which measures the progress as the ratio of actual contract costs incurred to date to the 
total estimated cost. The Company recognizes revenue related to change orders only when it is probable that the change order will 
result in an addition to contract value and can be reliably estimated. The Company evaluates change orders and claims based on 
historical experience with the customer, similar contracts, and on an individual basis, which involves significant judgment. The 
Company recognizes estimated amounts of variable consideration in transaction price to the extent that it is probable there will not 
be a significant reversal of revenue. Changes in estimates of variable consideration and costs to complete on in-process 
construction projects could have a significant impact on the amount of contract revenue recognized.

We identified auditing management’s estimates of variable consideration for change orders and claims and estimated costs to 
complete associated with the revenue recognition on select long-term fixed price construction contracts to be a critical audit 
matter.  The critical audit matter relates to select long-term fixed price construction contracts, based on magnitude of estimated 
costs to complete and the stage of completion of the contract. These estimates require management to make assumptions about 
future events and, as a result, a high degree of auditor judgment is involved in auditing these estimates.   Due to the factors above, 
auditing management’s estimates of costs to complete and variable consideration required extensive audit procedures. 

Our audit procedures to address the critical audit matter included the following: 
– Tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the reasonableness of estimates of costs to complete contracts and 

estimates of variable consideration recognized on contracts;
– Evaluated management’s process for estimating the costs to complete for select long-term fixed price construction 

contracts and evaluated the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used in the estimates; 
– Agreed a sample of contract costs incurred to supporting documentation; 
– Performed corroborative interviews of management and project personnel regarding facts and circumstances relevant to 

the accounting for such contracts;
– Evaluated variable consideration recognized related to construction projects by comparing management’s estimates to 

subsequent actual data, evaluating the contracts and other documents that support estimates made by management, and 
obtaining legal correspondence from internal and external counsel; and 

– Performed procedures to retrospectively assess management’s historical ability to accurately estimate variable 
consideration and cost to complete of construction contracts. 

/s/ Crowe LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Oak Brook, Illinois 
February 23, 2022
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MYR GROUP INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization, Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Business

MYR Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a holding company of specialty electrical construction service providers and is currently 
conducting operations through wholly owned subsidiaries. The Company performs construction services in two business 
segments: Transmission and Distribution (“T&D”) and Commercial and Industrial (“C&I”). T&D customers include investor-
owned utilities, cooperatives, private developers, government-funded utilities, independent power producers, independent 
transmission companies, industrial facility owners and other contractors. T&D provides a broad range of services, which include 
design, engineering, procurement, construction, upgrade, maintenance and repair services, with a particular focus on construction, 
maintenance and repair. C&I customers include general contractors, commercial and industrial facility owners, government 
agencies and developers. C&I provides a broad range of services, which include design, installation, maintenance and repair of 
commercial and industrial wiring, the installation of traffic networks and the installation of bridge, roadway and tunnel lighting.

Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The accompanying Financial Statements include the results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries. Significant 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications were made to prior year amounts to 
conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for goods or services provided. Revenue associated with 
contracts with customers is recognized over time as the Company’s performance creates or enhances customer-controlled assets 
or creates or enhances an asset with no alternative use, for which the Company has an enforceable right to receive compensation 
as defined under the contract. To determine the amount of revenue to recognize over time, the Company estimates profit by 
determining the difference between total estimated revenue and total estimated cost of a contract. In addition, the Company 
estimates a cost accrual every quarter that represents unbilled invoicing activity for services performed by subcontractors and 
suppliers during the quarter, and estimates revenue from the contract cost portion of this accrual based on current gross margin 
rates to be consistent with its cost method of revenue recognition. The estimated value of unbilled amounts are determined using a 
regression analysis that estimates value based on the Company’s historical experience, and is adjusted for large individual 
projects. The profit and corresponding revenue is recognized over the contract term based on costs incurred under the cost-to-cost 
method. The Company utilizes the cost-to-cost method as it believes cost incurred best represents the amount of work completed 
and remaining on projects, and is the most common basis for computing percentage of completion in the industry. For purposes of 
recognizing revenue, the Company follows the five-step approach outlined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 
606-10-25.

As the cost-to-cost method is driven by incurred cost, the Company calculates the percentage of completion by dividing costs 
incurred to date by the total estimated cost. The percentage of completion is then multiplied by estimated revenues to determine 
inception-to-date revenue. Revenue recognized for the period is the current inception-to-date recognized revenue less the prior 
period inception-to-date recognized revenue. If a contract is projected to result in a loss, the entire contract loss is recognized in 
the period when the loss was first determined and the amount of the loss is updated in subsequent reporting periods. Because the 
Company’s billings are based on contract terms and do not coincide with our progress in a project, revenue recognition also 
includes an amount related to a contract asset or contract liability. If the recognized revenue is greater than the amount billed to 
the customer, a contract asset is recorded. Additionally, the contract asset includes retainage billed to the customer that cannot be 
collected until the contract work has been completed and approved. Conversely, if the amount billed to the customer is greater 
than the recognized revenue, a contract liability is recorded. Additionally, the contract liability includes a liability for the excess 
of costs over revenues for all contracts that are in a loss position.

51



Contract costs incurred to date and expected total contract costs are continuously monitored during the term of the contract. 
Changes in the job performance, job conditions and final contract settlements are factors that influence management’s assessment 
of total contract value and the total estimated costs to complete those contracts, and therefore, profit and revenue recognition. 
Additionally, the Company estimates costs to complete on fixed price contracts which are determined on an individual contract 
basis by evaluating each project’s status as of the balance sheet date, and using our historical experience with the level of effort 
required to complete the underlying project. Claims and change orders are also measured based on our historical experience with 
individual customers and similar contracts, and are evaluated by management individually. A change order is a modification to a 
contract that changes the provisions of the contract, typically resulting from changes in scope, specifications, design, manner of 
performance, facilities, equipment, materials, sites, or period of completion of the work under the contract. A claim is an amount 
in excess of the agreed-upon contract price that the Company seeks to collect from its clients or others for client-caused delays, 
errors in specifications and designs, contract terminations, change orders that are either in dispute or are unapproved as to both 
scope and price, or other causes. The Company includes these estimated amounts of variable consideration to the extent that it is 
probable there will not be a significant reversal of revenue.

Some of the Company’s contracts may have contract terms that include variable consideration such as safety or performance 
bonuses or liquidated damages. In accordance with ASC 606-10-32, the Company estimates the variable consideration using one 
of two methods. In contracts in which there is a binary outcome, the most likely amount method is used. In instances in which 
there is a range of possible outcomes, the expected value method is used. In accordance with ASC 606-10-32-11, the Company 
includes the estimated amount of variable consideration in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative recognized revenue will not occur when the final outcome of the variable 
consideration is determined. In contracts in which a significant reversal may occur, the Company uses constraint in recognizing 
revenue on variable consideration. Although the Company often enters into contracts that contain liquidated damage clauses, the 
Company rarely incurs them, and as such, the Company does not include amounts associated with liquidated damage clauses until 
it is probable that liquidated damages will occur. These items are continually monitored by multiple levels of management 
throughout the reporting period.

A portion of the work the Company performs requires financial assurances in the form of performance and payment bonds or 
letters of credit at the time of execution of the contract. Many of the Company’s contracts include retention provisions of up to 
10%, which are generally withheld from each progress payment as retainage until the contract work has been completed and 
approved.

The Company provides warranties to customers on a basis customary to the industry; however, the warranty period does not 
typically exceed one year. Historically, warranty claims have not been material to the Company.

Total revenues do not include sales tax as the Company considers itself a pass-through conduit for collecting and remitting 
sales taxes. Sales tax and value added tax collected from customers is included in other current liabilities on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets.

Joint Ventures and Noncontrolling Interests

The Company accounts for investments in joint ventures using the proportionate consolidation method for income statement 
reporting and under the equity method for balance sheet reporting, unless the Company has a controlling interest causing the joint 
venture to be consolidated with equity owned by other joint venture partners recorded as noncontrolling interests. Under the 
proportionate consolidation method, joint venture activity is allocated to the appropriate line items found on the consolidated 
statements of operations in proportion to the percentage of participation the Company has in the joint venture. During the years 
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized its proportionate share of joint venture revenues of $26.1 
million, $27.2 million, and $20.3 million, respectively. Under the equity method the net investment in joint ventures is stated as a 
single item on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. If an investment in a joint venture contains a recourse or unfunded 
commitments to provide additional equity, distributions and/or losses in excess of the investment a liability is recorded in other 
current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. For joint ventures which the Company does not have a 
controlling interest, the Company’s share of any profits and assets and its share of any losses and liabilities are recognized based 
on the Company’s stated percentage partnership interest in the joint venture, and are normally recorded by the Company one 
month in arrears. The investments in joint ventures are recorded at cost and the carrying amounts are adjusted to recognize the 
Company’s proportionate share of cumulative income or loss, additional contributions made and dividends and capital 
distributions received. The Company records the effect of any impairment or any other-than-temporary decrease in the value of 
the joint venture investment as incurred, which may or may not be one month in arrears, depending on when the Company obtains 
the joint venture activity information. Additionally, the Company continually assesses the fair value of its investment in 
unconsolidated joint ventures despite using information that is one month in arrears for regular reporting purposes. The Company 
includes only its percentage ownership of each joint venture in its backlog. See Note 18–Noncontrolling Interests to the Financial 
Statements for further information related to joint ventures in which the Company has a majority controlling interest.
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Foreign Currency

The functional currency for the Company’s Canadian operations is the Canadian dollar. Assets and liabilities denominated in 
Canadian dollars are translated into U.S. dollars at the end-of-period exchange rate. Revenues and expenses are translated using 
average exchange rates for the periods reported. Equity accounts are translated at historical rates. Cumulative translation 
adjustments are included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity. Foreign 
currency transaction gains and losses, arising primarily from changes in exchange rates on short-term monetary assets and 
liabilities, and ineffective long-term monetary assets and liabilities are recorded in the “other income, net” line on the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations. Foreign currency losses, recorded in other income, net, for the year ended December 31, 
2021, were $0.1 million. Effective foreign currency transaction gains and losses, arising primarily from long-term assets and 
liabilities are recorded in the foreign currency translation adjustment line on the Company’s consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses 
during the period reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The most significant estimates are related to estimates of costs to complete on contracts, pending change orders and claims, 
shared savings, insurance reserves, income tax reserves, estimates surrounding stock-based compensation, the recoverability of 
goodwill and intangibles and allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company estimates a cost accrual every period that represents 
costs incurred but not invoiced for services performed or goods delivered during the period, and estimates revenue from the 
contract cost portion of these accruals based on current gross margin rates to be consistent with its cost method of revenue 
recognition.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized revenues of $2.4 million and $14.7 million, respectively, 
related to significant change orders and/or claims that had been included as contract price adjustments on certain contracts, some 
of which are multi-year projects. These change orders and/or claims are in the process of being negotiated in the normal course of 
business, and a portion of these recognized revenues had been included in multiple periods. These aggregate amounts, which were 
included in “Contract assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, represent the Company’s estimates of additional 
contract revenues that were earned and probable of collection, however, the amount ultimately realized could be significantly 
higher or lower than the estimated amount.

The cost-to-cost method of accounting requires the Company to make estimates about the expected revenue and gross profit 
on each of its contracts in process. During the year ended December 31, 2021, changes in estimates pertaining to certain projects 
increased consolidated gross margin by 0.4%, which resulted in increases in operating income of $9.2 million, net income of $6.6 
million and diluted earnings per common share attributable to MYR Group Inc. of $0.39. The estimates are reviewed and revised 
quarterly, as needed. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, changes in estimates pertaining to certain projects decreased consolidated gross 
margin by 0.8%, which resulted in decreases in operating income of $18.0 million, net income of $12.8 million and diluted 
earnings per common share attributable to MYR Group Inc. of $0.76. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, changes in estimates pertaining to certain projects decreased consolidated gross 
margin by 0.8%, which resulted in decreases in operating income of $11.7 million, net income attributable to MYR Group Inc. of 
$7.5 million and diluted earnings per common share attributable to MYR Group Inc. of $0.45.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Advertising costs, included in selling, general and administrative expenses, 
were $0.8 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recorded for future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets 
and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the underlying assets 
or liabilities are recovered or settled. The Company also evaluates whether the recorded deferred tax assets and valuation 
allowances can be realized and, when necessary, reduces the amounts to what is expected to be realized.

Interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions are included in income tax expense on the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations. Interest and penalties actually incurred are charged to interest expense and the “other 
income, net” line, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company determines compensation expense for stock-based awards based on the estimated fair values at the grant date 
and recognize the related compensation expense over the vesting period. The Company uses the straight-line amortization method 
to recognize compensation expense related to stock-based awards, such as restricted stock and restricted stock units, that have 
only service conditions. This method recognizes stock compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period for the entire award. The Company recognizes compensation expense related to performance awards that vest based on 
internal performance metrics and service conditions on a straight-line basis over the service period, but adjust inception-to-date 
expense based upon our determination of the potential achievement of the performance target at each reporting date. The 
Company recognizes compensation expense related to performance awards with market-based performance metrics on a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur. Shares issued under the 
Company’s stock-based compensation program are taken out of authorized but unissued shares.

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, basic earnings 
per share attributable to MYR Group Inc. are computed by dividing net income attributable to MYR Group Inc. by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share attributable to MYR Group Inc. are 
computed by dividing net income attributable to MYR Group Inc. by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period plus all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents, except in cases where the effect of the common stock 
equivalent would be anti-dilutive.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company held its cash in checking accounts or in highly liquid money 
market funds. The Company’s banking arrangements allow the Company to fund outstanding checks when presented to financial 
institutions for payment. The Company funds all intraday bank balances overdrafts during the same business day. Checks issued 
and outstanding in excess of bank balance are recorded in accounts payable on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and are 
reflected as a financing activity on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company does not charge interest to its customers and carries its customer receivables at their face amounts, net of 
contract retainage, less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Based on the Company’s experience in recent years, the majority of 
customer balances at each balance sheet date are collected within twelve months. As is common practice in the industry, the 
Company classifies all accounts receivable as current assets.

The Company grants trade credit, on a non-collateralized basis (with the exception of lien rights against the property in 
certain cases), to its customers and is subject to potential credit risk related to changes in business and overall economic activity. 
The Company analyzes specific accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts, customer credit-worthiness, current economic 
trends and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. In the event 
that a customer balance is deemed to be uncollectible, the account balance is written-off against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts.

Classification of Contract Assets and Liabilities

The Company recognizes revenue associated with its contracts with customers over time, for which the Company has an 
enforceable right to receive compensation. Many of our contracts contain specific provisions that determine when the Company 
can bill for its work performed under these contracts.
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Any revenue earned on a contract that has not yet been billed to the customer is recorded as a contract asset on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Contract retainages associated with contract work that has been completed and billed but 
not paid by its customers until the contracts are substantially complete, pursuant to contract retainage provisions under the 
contract, are also included in contract assets.

The Company’s consolidated balance sheets present contract liabilities that contain deferred revenue that represent any costs 
incurred on contracts in process for which revenue has not yet been recognized. Additionally, accruals for contracts in a loss 
provision are included in contract liabilities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at cost, except for assets acquired in a business combination which are recorded at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives. Major 
modifications or refurbishments which extend the useful life of the assets are capitalized and depreciated over the adjusted 
remaining useful life of the assets. Upon retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the cost and related accumulated 
depreciation are removed and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in income from operations. The cost of maintenance and 
repairs is charged to expense as incurred. Property and equipment is reviewed for impairment and tested for recoverability 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of 
property and equipment exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded in the statement of operations.

Leases

The Company enters into non-cancelable leases for some of our facility, vehicle and equipment needs. These leases allow the 
Company to conserve cash by paying a monthly lease rental fee for the use of facilities, vehicles and equipment rather than 
purchasing them. The Company’s leases have remaining terms ranging from one to six years, some of which may include options 
to extend the leases for up to five years, and some of which may include options to terminate the leases within one year. 
Currently, all the Company’s leases contain fixed payment terms. The Company may decide to cancel or terminate a lease before 
the end of its term, in which case we are typically liable to the lessor for the remaining lease payments under the term of the lease. 
Additionally, all of the Company’s month-to-month leases are cancelable, by the Company or the lessor, at any time and are not 
included in our right-of-use asset or liability. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had several leases with residual value 
guarantees. The total amount probable of being owed of residual leases guarantees is not significant. Typically, the Company has 
purchase options on the equipment underlying its long-term leases and many of its short-term rental arrangements. The Company 
may exercise some of these purchase options when the need for equipment is on-going and the purchase option price is attractive. 
Nonperformance-related default covenants, cross-default provisions, subjective default provisions and material adverse change 
clauses contained in material lease agreements, if any, are also evaluated to determine whether those clauses affect lease 
classification in accordance with ASC Topic 842-10-25. Leases are accounted for as operating or finance leases, depending on the 
terms of the lease.

Finance Leases.   The Company leases some vehicles and certain equipment under finance leases. The economic substance of 
the leases is a financing transaction for acquisition of the vehicles and equipment. Accordingly, the right-of-use assets for these 
leases are included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets in property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, 
with a corresponding amount recorded in current portion of finance lease obligations or finance lease obligations, net of current 
maturities, as appropriate. The finance lease assets are amortized over the life of the lease or, if shorter, the life of the leased asset, 
on a straight-line basis and included in depreciation expense. The financing component associated with finance lease obligations 
is included in interest expense. Generally, for the Company’s finance leases an implicit rate to calculate present value is provided 
in the lease agreement, however if a rate in not provided the Company determines this rate by estimating the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate, utilizing the borrowing rates associated with the Company’s various debt instruments.

Operating Right-of-Use Leases.   Operating right-of-use leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, current 
portion of operating lease obligations and operating lease obligations, net of current maturities on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets, as appropriate. Operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the 
present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. As most of the Company’s leases 
do not provide an implicit rate to calculate present value, the Company determines this rate by estimating the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate, utilizing the borrowing rates associated with the Company’s various debt instruments. The operating 
lease right-of-use asset also includes any lease payments made and initial direct costs incurred and excludes lease incentives. Our 
lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. 
Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Insurance

The Company carries insurance policies, which are subject to certain deductibles, for workers’ compensation, general 
liability, automobile liability and other coverages. The deductible for each line of coverage is up to $1.0 million, except for 
wildfire coverage which has a deductible of $2.0 million. The Company also maintains excess umbrella coverage providing 
higher layers of insurance coverage for losses that exhaust the limits of underlying coverage. A layer of this umbrella coverage 
requires the Company to pay a portion of any loss within a certain loss range and our potential exposure for such losses is up to 
approximately $3.8 million. Certain health benefit plans are subject to a stop-loss limit of up to $0.2 million, for qualified 
individuals. Losses up to the deductible amounts are accrued based upon the Company’s estimates of the ultimate liability for 
claims reported and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported.

The insurance and claims accruals are based on known facts, actuarial estimates and historical trends. While recorded 
accruals are based on the ultimate liability, which includes amounts in excess of the deductible, a corresponding receivable for 
amounts in excess of the deductible is included in current assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The Company performs either a qualitative or quantitative assessment to 
review goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment on an annual basis. This assessment is performed at the 
beginning of the fourth quarter, or when circumstances change, such as a significant adverse change in the business climate or the 
decision to sell a business, both of which would indicate that impairment may have occurred. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
also reviewed for impairment and tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. 

A qualitative assessment considers financial, industry, segment and macroeconomic factors, if the qualitative assessment 
indicates a potential for impairment, a quantitative assessment is performed to determine if impairment exists. The quantitative 
assessment begins with a comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit or intangible asset with its carrying value. If the 
carrying amount of the reporting unit or intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss would be recognized in an 
amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of the goodwill allocated to the reporting unit or intangible asset. If the 
carrying value of goodwill or other indefinite lived assets exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded 
in the statement of operations.

As a result of the annual qualitative review process in 2020 and 2019, the Company determined it was not necessary to 
perform a quantitative assessment. In 2021, the Company performed a quantitative assessment on goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite lives, this assessment did not indicate that the Company’s goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets were 
impaired.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and 
cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company maintains substantially all of its cash and cash equivalent balances with 
large financial institutions which are believed to be high quality institutions.

The Company is subject to a concentration of risk because it derives a significant portion of its revenues from a few 
customers. The Company’s top ten customers accounted for approximately 34.9%, 32.7%, and 30.8% of consolidated revenues 
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, no 
single customer accounted for more than 10.0% of annual revenues.

The Company grants trade credit under contractual payment terms, generally without collateral, to its customers, which 
include high credit quality electric utilities, governmental entities, general contractors and builders, owners and managers of 
commercial and industrial properties. Consequently, the Company is subject to potential credit risk related to changes in business 
and economic factors. However, the Company generally has certain statutory lien rights with respect to services provided. Under 
certain circumstances such as foreclosures or negotiated settlements, the Company may take title to the underlying assets in lieu 
of cash in settlement of receivables. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, none of the Company’s customers individually exceeded 
10.0% of accounts receivable. The Company believes the terms and conditions in its contracts, billing and collection policies are 
adequate to minimize the potential credit risk.

As of December 31, 2021, approximately 92% of the Company’s craft labor employees were covered by collective 
bargaining agreements. Although the majority of these agreements prohibit strikes and work stoppages, the Company cannot be 
certain that strikes or work stoppages will not occur in the future.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Changes to GAAP are typically established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form of 
accounting standards updates (“ASUs”) to the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). The Company considers the 
applicability and impact of all ASUs. The Company, based on its assessment, determined that any recently issued or proposed 
ASUs not listed below are either not applicable to the Company or may have minimal impact on its Financial Statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which simplifies the 
accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions within ASC 740, Income Taxes, and clarifies certain aspects of the 
current guidance to promote consistent application among reporting entities. The Company adopted this ASU in January 2021 and 
there was no effect on the consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805) Accounting for Contract Assets 
and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which is intended to improve the accounting for acquired revenue 
contracts with customers in a business combination by addressing diversity in practice and inconsistency related to the recognition 
of an acquired contract liability and payment terms and their effect on subsequent revenue recognized by the acquirer. Under the 
new guidance the acquirer is required to recognize contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in 
accordance with Topic 606 as if the acquirer had originated the contracts. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including in an interim 
period, for any period for which financial statements have not yet been issued. However, adoption in an interim period other than 
the first fiscal quarter requires an entity to apply the new guidance to all prior business combinations that have occurred since the 
beginning of the annual period in which the new guidance is adopted. The Company is currently evaluating the adoption date and 
impact, if any, this update will have on its financial position and results of operations. 

2. Acquisition

CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc.

On July 15, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc. 
(“CSI”), an electrical contracting firm based in California. CSI provides services to a broad array of end markets under the 
Company’s C&I segment. The total consideration, after net asset adjustments of approximately $1.0 million, was $80.7 million 
which was funded through borrowings under the Company’s credit facility. The Company finalized the purchase price accounting 
relating to the acquisition of CSI during the year ended December 31, 2019.

The purchase agreement also includes contingent consideration provisions for margin guarantee adjustments based upon 
contract performance subsequent to the acquisition. The contracts were valued at fair value at the acquisition date, causing no 
margin guarantee estimate or adjustments for fair value. Changes in contract estimates, such as modified costs to complete or 
change order recognition, will result in changes to these margin guarantee estimates. Changes in contingent consideration, 
subsequent to the acquisition, related to the margin guarantee adjustments on contracts of approximately $0.5 million, $0.6 
million and $2.0 million were recorded in other expense for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
Future margin guarantee adjustments, if any, are expected to be recognized in 2022. The Company could also be required to make 
compensation payments contingent on the successful achievement of certain performance targets and continued employment of 
certain key executives of CSI. Payment of amounts earned, if any, as defined in the purchase agreement, will be made in 2024 and 
are included in other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. These payments are recognized as compensation 
expense on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations when deemed probable. For the year ended December 31, 2021, 
2020 and 2019 the Company recognized $5.4 million, $4.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of compensation expense 
associated with these contingent payments.

3. Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contracts with customers usually stipulate the timing of payment, which is defined by the terms found within the various 
contracts under which work was performed during the period. Therefore, contract assets and liabilities are created when the 
timing of costs incurred on work performed does not coincide with the billing terms, which frequently include retention 
provisions contained in each contract.
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Performance and Payment Bonds and Parent Guarantees

In certain circumstances, the Company is required to provide performance and payment bonds in connection with its future 
performance on certain contractual commitments. The Company has indemnified its sureties for any expenses paid out under 
these bonds. As of December 31, 2021, an aggregate of approximately $1.39 billion in original face amount of bonds issued by 
the Company’s sureties were outstanding. The Company estimated the remaining cost to complete these bonded projects was 
approximately $607.0 million as of December 31, 2021.

From time to time the Company guarantees the obligations of wholly owned subsidiaries, including obligations under certain 
contracts with customers, certain lease agreements and, in some states, obligations in connection with obtaining contractors’ 
licenses. Additionally, from time to time the Company is required to post letters of credit to guarantee the obligations of its wholly 
owned subsidiaries, which reduces the borrowing availability under the Facility.

Indemnities

From time to time, pursuant to its service arrangements, the Company indemnifies its customers for claims related to the 
services it provides under those service arrangements. These indemnification obligations may subject the Company to indemnity 
claims, liabilities and related litigation. The Company is not aware of any material unrecorded liabilities for asserted claims in 
connection with these indemnification obligations.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

Most of the Company’s subsidiaries’ craft labor employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. The agreements 
require the subsidiaries to pay specified wages, provide certain benefits and contribute certain amounts to multi-employer pension 
plans. If a subsidiary withdraws from any of the multi-employer pension plans or if the plans were to otherwise become 
underfunded, the subsidiary could incur liabilities for additional contributions related to these plans. Although the Company has 
been informed that the status of some multi-employer pension plans to which its subsidiaries contribute have been classified as 
“critical” the Company is not currently aware of any potential liabilities related to this issue. See Note 16 — Employee Benefit 
Plans to the Financial Statements for further information related to the Company’s participation in multi-employer plans.

Litigation and Other Legal Matters

The Company is from time-to-time party to various lawsuits, claims, and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary 
course of business. These actions typically seek, among other things, compensation for alleged personal injury, breach of contract, 
property damages, punitive damages, civil penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. With respect to all such 
lawsuits, claims and proceedings, the Company records reserves when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the 
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company does not believe that any of these proceedings, separately or in the 
aggregate, would be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

The Company is routinely subject to other civil claims, litigation and arbitration, and regulatory investigations arising in the 
ordinary course of our present business as well as in respect of our divested businesses. Some of these claims and litigations 
include claims related to the Company’s current services and operations, the Company believes that it has strong defenses to these 
claims as well as insurance coverages that could contribute to any settlement or liability in the event claims are not resolved in our 
favor. These claims have not had a material impact on the Company to date, and the Company believes that the likelihood that a 
future material adverse outcome will result from these claims is remote. However, if facts and circumstances change in the future, 
the Company cannot be certain that an adverse outcome of one or more of these claims would not have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Management, together with our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period 
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and provided reasonable assurance related to the 
matters stated in the above paragraph as of December 31, 2021.

Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including 
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting based on the framework set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, our management has 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective, as of December 31, 2021, in providing reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes 
in accordance with GAAP. Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is included in “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, Crowe LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, audited and reported on the 2021 Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and has issued an attestation report on our internal control over 
financial reporting. The report is included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 
2021 that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure 
controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will detect or prevent all errors and all fraud. A control 
system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the 
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can 
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the 
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any 
system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no 
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 
detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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(2) The weighted-average exercise price in this column includes only option awards because the shares underlying other 
outstanding awards will be issued upon vesting or satisfaction of relevant performance criteria or time-based conditions 
without any cash consideration payable for those shares.

(3) Reflects securities remaining available for future issuance under our LTIP. No further awards will be granted under the 2007 
Plan.

Other information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information to be included in the 2022 Proxy 
Statement under the headings “Ownership of Equity Securities.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the information to be included in the 2022 Proxy 
Statement under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” and “Corporate Governance — Director 
Independence.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information to be included in the 2022 Proxy 
Statement under the heading “Audit Committee Matters.”
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